
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 29 September 2021. 

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Rural and 
Communities 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Thursday, 7 October 2021 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Ray Wootten (Chairman) 
Councillor Sarah Trotter (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown, Councillor Philip Knowles,  
Councillor Hilary Westropp and Councillor Amanda Wheeler and Vacancy 
 

 

Agenda 
 

 
1.   Comments from Members of the Public 

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s discretion. 
 

 

2.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   Disclosure of Interest 
Members are asked to disclose any interest in matters for consideration at the meeting. 
 

 

4.   Action Notes from the meeting held on 1 July 2021 
 

(Pages 3 - 9) 

5.   Update on actions agreed at the previous meeting 
 
 

(Pages 11 - 12) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

6.   Compliance update 
This report seeks to update Committee on actions to ensure regulatory 
compliance of the Council’s social housing landlord function following the 
non-compliance notice issued by the Regulator of Social Housing.  
 

(Pages 13 - 31) 

7.   Empty Homes Strategy 
This report seeks to provide the Committee with information on the issue 
of empty homes within the District and provides a draft Empty Homes 
Strategy. 
 

(Pages 33 - 54) 

8.   Equality Annual Report 
This report presents the Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 
2021. 
 

(Pages 55 - 83) 

9.   Disabled Facilities Grants 
This report provides a review of the Disabled Facilities Grant programme 
during 2020/21.  
 

(Pages 85 - 89) 

10.   Work Programme 2021 - 2022 
To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2021 - 2022  
 

(Pages 91 - 95) 

11.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances, decides 
is urgent 
 

 



 
 

ACTION NOTES 
 

Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Thursday, 1 July 2021, 2.00 pm 
  

Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  
St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 
Committee Members present 
 
Councillor Ray Wootten (Chairman) 
Councillor Sarah Trotter (Vice Chairman) 
 
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Hilary Westropp 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
 
Cabinet Members in attendance 

 

 
Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing and Property) 
 

 
 

Officers in attendance 
 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property)  
Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive)  
Richard Wyles (Interim Director of Finance) 
Carol Drury (Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer)  
Claire Moses (Head of Revenues and Benefits)  
Ben Russell (Performance Lead) 
Seb Brady (Democratic Officer) 
 

 
1. Comments from Members of the Public 

 
There were none.  
 

2. Apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Exton and Councillor 
Jacky Smith was acting as his substitute.   
 

3

Agenda Item 4



 
 

3. Disclosure of Interest 
 
There were none. 
 

4. Action Notes from the meeting held on 29 April 2021 
 
Members considered the Action Notes of the meeting held on 29 April 2021.  
 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that the action notes were a true 
and accurate record. 
 

5. Updates from the previous meeting 
 
All actions from the previous meeting were reported as complete. 
 

6. Compliance update 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property updated the committee on: 
 

• A very favourable review that had been received from the social housing 
regulator 

• Fire regulations assessments were running slightly behind schedule, but 
were nearly complete, with only two left to finish. 

• Ongoing issues regarding gas surveys, whereby 42 properties have yet 
to be surveyed due to access issues.  

• 100% compliance record with regards to Legionnaire’s disease and 
asbestos.  

• Ongoing issues with the Earlesfield Estate properties were being 
addressed, the Team would continue to be utilise a void property as an 
onsite office.  
 

Members raised a number of questions: 
 

• SKDC properties and whether any had any potentially dangerous 
flammable cladding, Members were assured that this was not the case. 

 

• Were complaints received from residents about Liberty Gas (SKDC’s 
subcontractor), being addressed. 

 
Members were informed the contract was shortly due to expire and other 
options are being explored 
 

• If Members could be provided with a list of tasks that were required to be 
achieved over the next 18 months. An improvement plan would be 
circulated to Members, for their information.  

 
Officers confirmed that this would be actioned.  
 

4



 
 

 
ACTION 1 
 
That a list of tasks to be completed, in relation to the work with the 
Housing Regulator and the Improvement Plan be circulated to Members.  
 

7. Housing Customer Feedback Policy 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property introduced to Members a 
report on the Council’s, Housing Customer Feedback Policy.  
 
The Council’s Corporate Plan set a clear priority in relation to Housing – that it 
should meet the needs of residents. As a social landlord, listening and acting 
on the views of service users expressed as complaints, compliments and 
comments was a significant part of understanding those needs. The draft 
Housing Customer Feedback Policy sets out how the Housing Service would 
manage that feedback. 
 
Members considered to report and were encouraged that it would be 
instrumental in opening clear lines of communication between officers and 
residents.   
 
A query was raised regarding how a resident would exercise their right to 
contacting the Ombudsman, should they feel they needed to do so.  Members 
were advised that the Council would provide contact details and support any 
resident. 
 
DECISIONS:  
 
a) The Committee considered and were encouraged the content of the 

report in relation to the management of complaints, compliments, 
and comments. 

b)  That the Committee reviewed the proposed Housing Customer 
Feedback Policy.  

c)  That the Committee forward any comments to the report author, 
prior to consideration by Cabinet. 

 
8. Housing Service Assisted Garden Maintenance Scheme 

 
The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Property presented the Committee with a 
report of on proposed changes to the current Assisted Garden Maintenance 
Scheme, in terms of eligibility for the scheme and whether it would be 
appropriate to recover the costs for providing the service to tenants. 
 
The Committee raised various questions: 
 

5



 
 

• There was a need to ensure that the Assisted Garden Maintenance 
scheme was fit for purpose and was only being utilised by those who 
were eligible, how would that be achieved?  

 
Members were advised that that making sure that only those residents who 
were eligible was a core part of the policy. There would be a clear criterion to 
identify eligibility.  
 

Members discussed the reasons for a charge to resident and requested that a 
breakdown of the costs be obtained, which was agreed that they would be.  

 
The three options regarding charges to residents were discussed; to pass all 
costs on to those on the scheme, to part subsidise or thirdly to fully subsidise; 
but only for those who fulfilled a specific criterion.  
 
It was proposed and seconded and AGREED that the third option be 
recommended for adoption. 
 
ACTION 2 
 
That a breakdown of costs of the Garden Maintenance Scheme be 
provided to Members.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
1. That the Committee supported to the adoption of the renamed 

Assisted Grass and Hedge Cutting Scheme 
2. Recommended that the scheme be fully subsidise; but only for 

 those who fulfilled a specific criterion. 
 

9. Compensation Policy 
 
Members received a report from the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Property 
on the Housing Service Compensation Policy.   
 
In common with all social landlords, Councils are obliged, in some 
circumstances, to make payments to tenants or leaseholders to compensate 
them for loss or inconvenience. The report sought the input of the Committee 
into the principles on which a Housing Service Compensation Policy could be 
based. Any Policy would be intended to provide clarity of the circumstances, 
both discretionary and statutory, where it was appropriate, such payments 
would be made. 
 
Members were impressed with the comprehensive report and its 
recommendations.  
 
The Committee endorsed the recommendations of the report and encouraged 
Cabinet to agree approval.  

6



 
 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
That the Committee endorsed the Policy and indicated its support for 
further work processes, prior to consideration by Cabinet. 
 

10. Breathing Space - Update 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources introduced to Members a 
report on the Breathing Space Policy.  The report provided and update on the 
Debt Respite Regulation and the instruction of the Policy.   
 
On 4 May 2021, South Kesteven District Council, as a creditor, were required 
to introduce the Debt Respite Scheme, Breathing Space. There were two 
types of Breathing Space – Standard and Mental Health crisis 
 
Members considered the report and raised a number of points: 
 
• As most debt was related to council tax and rent why had the Council not 

sought to provide help and guidance before significant sums of debt 
were built up. 

 

Members were informed that the instances of very high levels of debt were 
rare and that Covid 19 has disrupted our recovery methods.  
 

• Whether there was a possibility of bridging the gap between mental 
health and breathing space in the case of undiagnosed mental health 
issues.  

 
Officers had been trained to look for safeguarding issues and concerns.  
 
Members were reassured that SKDC had a good history of engagement and 
dialogue with residents who were struggling with their finances.  
  
DECISION: 
 
Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee noted 
introduction of the Debt Respite Scheme and the arrangements that have 
been put in place to enable the Council to respond to the legislative 
requirements. 
 

11. Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2020/21 
 
Members were presented with a report on the Corporate Plan Key 
Performance Indicators for 2021/22.  The report outlined South Kesteven 
District Councils performance against the current Corporate Plan Key 

7



 
 

Performance Indicators (KPIs).  
 
The Assistant Chief Executive provided Members with an overview of 
progress that had been made, in relation to the Committee’s remit:  
 

• 9 were green 

• 7 were amber (meaning mitigation measures were in place).  

• None were red 
 

The Committee were informed that progress had been made setting up a 
Mental Health Working Party, that SKDC were one of only three authorities to 
have a five-year Housing Plan confirmed, through an Annual Position 
Statement. 
 
With regards to affordable homes it was noted that the number built were 
lower than expected, this was partly due to the slowdown in the market 
caused by the Pandemic.  Repairs completion times were identified as an 
area for improvement.  The Committee were reminded that all KPI’s were to 
be reviewed and refreshed after 12 months.  
 

Members raised a number of questions, as follows:  
 

• What was the current situation with the shortage of homes and both the 
Voids and Empty Homes Strategies?  
 

Officers advised Members that most of the long-term void issues had been 
resolved. A policy had been drafted, as room for improvement had been 
identified.   Reassured was given that empty homes were being addressed by 

a working party formed from different teams and a strategy was being drafted.  
 
Members were informed that solid fuel heated council properties would be 
altered to provide more appropriate alternatives, supported by the Green 
Homes Grant.  
 

• The former Police homes on Stonebridge Road were raised and what 

was the current situation with bringing them into use.  

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property advised that there were a 
number of housing schemes coming forward. The former Police Housing was 
a further scheme where capital fund allocation was being considered, 
following the stock condition survey.  
 
DECISION:  
 
Members noted the contents of the report 

 
 
 

8



 
 

 
12. Work Programme 2021 - 2022 

 
Members requested that the Empty Homes and Voids Strategies be added to 
the work programme.  A further request was made that feedback be provided 
regarding the Breathing Space Policy, at the October meeting.  
 

ACTION 3  
 
Update on the Empty Homes and Voids Strategies be added to the Work 
Programme, a date to be confirmed.  
 
ACTION 4 
 
Update on the Breathing Space Policy be added to the Work Programme, 
to be considered at the October meeting of the Committee.  
 

13. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 
There were none. 
 

14. Close of meeting 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 16:04.  
 
 
 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

ACTION SHEET 
Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

To provide members with an update on actions agreed at the meeting held on 1 July 2021.  

Min 
No 

Agenda 
Item 

Action(s) Assigned to Comment/Status Deadline 

6 Compliance 
update 

1. That a list of tasks to be 
completed, in relation to the 
work with the Housing 
Regulator and the 
Improvement Plan be 
circulated to Members. 

Andrew Cotton (Director of 
Housing and Property)  
 

To be provided as part of 
the regular Compliance 
Update Report submitted 
to Committee 

Ongoing 
 

8 Housing 
Service 
Assisted 
Garden 
Maintenance 
Scheme 

2. That a breakdown of costs 
of the Garden Maintenance 
Scheme be provided to 
Members.  

 

Andrew Cotton (Director of 
Housing and Property)  
 

Due to the vacancies in 
the Service’s senior 
management team, this 
has not been progressed.  
Interim arrangements are 
now in place. 

29 October 
2021 

12 12. Work 
Programme 
2021 - 2022 
 

3. Update on the Empty 
Homes and Voids 
Strategies be added to the 
Work Programme, a date to 
be confirmed. 

 
 
 
 
 

4. Update on the Breathing 

Space Policy be added to 

the Work Programme, a 

date to be confirmed. 

Andrew Cotton (Director of 
Housing and Property) and 
Democratic Services 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Claire Moses (Head of 
Revenues and Benefits) and  
Democratic Services 
 

Added to the Work 
Programme. 
 

Empty Homes Strategy to 

be considered 07 

October 

Void Policy and Relet 
standard 
 
 

Meeting where this is to 
be considered is to be 
confirmed by Members 
 

COMPLETE 
 
 
COMPLETE 
 
 
9 December 
2021 
 
 
To be 
confirmed 
 
 

11

A
genda Item

 5



 
 

Min 
No 

Agenda 
Item 

Action(s) Assigned to Comment/Status Deadline 

 Added to the Work 
Programme.  
 
 

Meeting where this is to 
be considered is to be 
confirmed by Members. 

 

12



 

 

 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

07 October 2021 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid  

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 

           

Compliance update  

This report seeks to update Committee on actions to ensure regulatory compliance of the 
Council’s social housing landlord function following the non-compliance notice issued by the 
Regulator of Social Housing.  
 

Report Author 

Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 

 
 01476 406080 

  andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive) 23 September 2021 

Approved by: Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 28 September 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property) 

28 June 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. That the Committee notes the latest compliance position following the ongoing 
meetings with the Regulator of Social Housing.  

2. That the Committee receives a further update report at its next scheduled meeting. 

 

13

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Committee will be aware the Chief Executive determined, in consultation with the 

Leader and Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning, to self-refer the Council to the 

Regulator of Social Housing. Since this referral Officers have been providing further data 

and details relating to the core issues of non-compliance for the Regulator to consider and 

review.   

1.2 Monthly meetings have been taking place with the Regulator to cover issues of focus in 

terms of the regulatory framework, focussing on the Homes Standard; at the time of 

writing the report, the next scheduled meeting is on 24 September 2021.  Any issues of 

importance raised will be verbally reported to this meeting.  The discussions and requests 

for information have been provided as required, and this has allowed the Regulator to 

continue to work with Officers in a constructive and helpful way. 

1.3 The Committee has now received three update reports since March 2021 that have 

confirmed the Regulatory Notice served on the Council and provided an outline of the 

work that officers would continue to complete to ensure we logically and methodically 

progressed through a programme of improvement. 

1.4 The Committee determined that it would wish to receive update reports on progress at 

each of its meeting to ensure that Members had oversite of broad progress around the key 

areas of activity and could engage with Officers and scrutinise work where required. It 

identified the following core headings as a means of updating Members and would identify 

the following information to assist this process.  In addition, at the meeting on 01 July 

2021, Committee requested sight of the Improvement Plan and this is appended to this 

report (Appendix 2).  

1.5 Updating Tenants and Members: Following on from previous briefings, on 07 July 2021 

an ‘All Member’ briefing session was undertaken, this presentation including a detailed 

update on ongoing progress around compliance, updating of the Improvement Plan, and 

indications of service improvements such as IT project implementation and contract works 

to progress the journey to full compliance.  Further all member briefings will be arranged to 

ensure Members are fully informed on progress and continued challenges.  

1.6 Tenants have been kept informed throughout by a variety of methods, most recently the 

“Skyline” tenants’ magazine.  A full tenant consultation exercise is planned in this financial 

year – “The Big Listen”.  This will involve several questions on both the current experience 

of tenants in terms of the services the Council offers as a landlord, and what they would 

like to see prioritised in the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan, which will require a 

complete review in 2022/23.   

1.7 A key activity to support that Business Plan review is up-to-date information on the 

Council’s housing stock.  The last full Stock Condition Survey was completed in 2009; 

good practice suggests comprehensive Stock Condition survey should be completed 

every 5 years, usually by undertaking a survey of 20% of the stock each year. Early 

results should be available from September/October 2021 to allow a one-year capital 

programme for 2021/22 to be developed and agreed, with full data ready for the Business 

Plan Review in 2022/23.    

1.8 The new IT solution platform to provide ‘tenant feedback’ in real time (Rant and Rave) is 

anticipated to become live by the end of October 2021. This initiative along with the Big 

Listen will form a critical contribution to meeting the new Charter for Social Housing 

14



 

 
 

Tenants White Paper requirements and will demonstrate to the Regulator a clear intent by 

the Council to embrace full tenant participation.   

1.9 Audit Review Process:  as Committee will be aware, the original Audit report completed 

and submitted to this Committee and then subsequently submitted to Governance and 

Audit Committee which was held on the 18 March 2021.  The Audit Workplan for 2021 

included a further detailed audit for housing services during the summer of 2021, which 

has concluded, and the draft report is awaited.  The objective of this work is to intensively 

review the necessary compliance and service improvements required to provide 

assurance to Members around process and regulatory compliance. This Committee will of 

course be engaged in reviewing and scrutinising this report and further recommendations 

as they come forward. 

1.10 Regular Meeting with the Regulator: Monthly meetings between the Chief Executive, 

Director of Housing and Property Services, and the Regulator’s Officers take place as 

scheduled; the last meeting was completed on the 03 September 2021. These meetings 

cover specific core areas of compliance progress (attached as Appendix 1 to this report), 

the implementation plan (attached as Appendix 2), and updates on planned asbestos 

removal works for the Earlesfield Estate.  The Regulator has been satisfied with the 

actions in hand in relation to Earlsfield, and no longer requires weekly update reports on 

core activities around the Earlesfield initiative.  Work continues on this project, including 

budget calculations, following the appointment of a Project Manager to lead on this.   

1.11 Committee may find additional comment on Appendix 1 helpful: 

1.11.1 Asbestos – this shows 100% compliance in terms of asbestos inspections  

1.11.2 Electrical testing – this shows the position in relation to properties (both dwellings and 

communal areas) with an up-to-date electrical certificate.  Given the poor quality of record 

keeping previously, it was decided to re-test all properties.   It is more efficient for this 

testing to be done on an estate/area basing, hence the number of properties shown as 

compliant has dipped as some properties go out-of-date. The approach adopted will see 

full compliance achieved by the end of the financial year, and meets the Regulator’s 

expectations.   Any urgent remedial works are being undertaken as part of the testing. 

1.11.3 Fire Risk Assessments – this shows all communal blocks assessed as “higher risk” have 

been inspected, and corrective actions are being programmed and completed.  It is 

consistent with the Council’s Fire Safety Management Plan.  

1.11.4 Gas – 99.16% of properties have an up-to-date gas certificate.  Of the 39 properties 

without, 2 have recently become void and will be tested as part of the re-let works, 12 

have warrants to be served to force access, and the remainder are awaiting Court dates to 

obtain warrants. 

1.11.5 Legionella – all properties are currently compliant. 

1.11.6 Lift inspections – all properties are currently compliant.  

1.12 The Regulator has also been updated regarding the work being undertaken to launch the 

new compliance software known as Propeller, which is now operational within Housing 

Technical Services, and the Regulator has confirmed satisfaction with the project progress 

and planned objectives officers have outlined.    Similarly, work has been reported to the 

Regulator in relation to the management of the Council’s Sheltered Housing Schemes 

and, again, the Regulator has expressed satisfaction.   

15



 

 
 

1.13 The Council has featured in the Regulator’s Consumer Regulation Review 2020 to 2021 

(the report in its activities in 2021), and an extract is copied below: 

…the Council had failed to meet statutory health and safety requirements in relation to fire, 

electric, asbestos and heating appliances…In response, the Council has strengthened its 

senior capacity, demonstrating appropriate leadership and ownership and has developed 

an action plan to address the underlying weaknesses in its systems.  A programme of 

work has commenced, and the Council has provided assurance that it has taken 

immediate and appropriate action to ensure the safety of tenants while the programme 

was being delivered… 

1.14 A full copy of the report can of course be made available to Committee Members if they 

would find it helpful.   

1.15 Leadership Compliance Meetings: Chaired by Cabinet Member for Housing and 

Planning and attended by the Leader of the Council, the Chief Executive, and the Director 

of Housing and Property, these meetings have been a continued feature of the more 

detailed compliance review process being undertaken.  These are now held fortnightly, 

reflecting the stronger position in relation to compliance, with the option to revert to weekly 

if this is felt necessary. Members of this group ensure specific responses to the changing 

compliance review process and manage tenant and the communication responses to 

actions associated with key service and regulatory responses such as agreeing the scope 

and nature of key issues to be covered by the Skyline magazine publication.  

1.16 Regular Reports to Committees and Cabinet:  the necessary reporting to appropriate 

committees will continue.  Members are invited to comment on this report content and 

confirm their views and observations relating to the detail contained within this report.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Process, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The necessary consultation with the tenants and Members of the Council has been 

undertaken through timely reporting, dispatch of letters to advise tenants of progress, and 

the latest Skyline publication, dedicated customer telephone enquiry line, and an updated 

web site detailing compliance issues and signposting services. This process will continue 

as required and the engagement with tenants particularly will be amended to reflect 

changing needs and requirements.  

3 Available Options Considered 

These will be further determined through work with the Regulator, the adjusted 

Improvement Plan, and consideration of key outputs by Members, Leadership Compliance 

meetings, and All Member briefing sessions as arranged.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 To proceed in conjunction with the support and guidance of the Regulator, and to ensure 

audit and regulatory requirements are fully met by way of timely actions, reporting, and 

agreed improvement plan activity and regular reports to this committee, Audit and 

Governance Committee and Cabinet as required. Additional contact and reporting has 

been introduced for the Regulator and if necessary the HSE, and again this will continue 

as necessary. 

 

 

16



 

 
 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 To secure as determined by the Regulator a return to full compliance in respect of housing 

services, including the identification of appropriate resources, funds, and service 

improvements in a timely manner.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 To continue to build upon the Improvement Plan process, seek to secure a deliverable 

work plan with the Regulator, and provide timely and necessary information for Members 

such as this update report, so that robust decision making, and customer improvements 

can take place and be implemented as required.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The financial considerations arising from the compliance requirements have been 

substantially incorporated in the HRA budgets presented and approved by Council on 1 

March 2021. There are however anticipated to be further significant financial implications 

associated with the Earlesfield Estate asbestos management, removal, and property 

improvements works.  These will be presented for consideration at the appropriate time. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer  
 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The updates to Committee allow members to track progress against key risk areas, which 

is to be welcomed from a governance perspective. The legal implications for non-

compliance are incorporated within the risk ratings. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 All the necessary safeguarding and equality issues will be identified and complied with as 

the necessary compliance and improvement activities take place. Each equality and 

safeguarding impact are carefully considered when actioning a compliance or regulatory 

change. This is especially so when managing such matters for vulnerable households and 

particularly those occupying specialist accommodation such as designated sheltered 

accommodation.  

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The necessary risk issues, logs, and mitigations will be identified through the necessary 

work plans, and any work outputs agreed with the Regulator. Clearly dealing with 

significant compliance matters requires a comprehensive approach to risk management, 

particularly in respect of assessing priorities and critical actions. The necessary and 

agreed risk assessment process with be discussed and agreed with the Regulator at the 

appropriate time to ensure outcomes are as far as possible managed and objectives 

achieved.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 These will be identified as part of the compliance mitigation and implementation plans. 

17



 

 
 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Any capital improvement plans especially in the context of dealing with essential gas, 

electrical and other works will aim to maximise energy efficiency measures, and 

reductions in carbon emissions.  

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None currently. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Previous reports, and correspondence with Regulator. 

14.2 Report to Governance and Audit Committee and Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 - Summary Paper relating to core compliance areas.  

15.2 Appendix 2 – Improvement Plan September 2021.   

 

 

18



/

Lift inspections

0%

50%

100%

21
March
2021

16
April
2021

20 May
2021

18 June
2021

19 July
2021

27
August
2021

22
Septe…
2021

Fire Risk Assessments

0%

50%

100%

21
March
2021

16
April
2021

20 May
2021

18 June
2021

19 July
2021

27
August
2021

22
Septe…
2021

5.78%
11.56%

21.83%

47.98%

99.42% 99.33% 100.00%

Electrical

0%

50%

100%

21
March
2021

16
April
2021

20 May
2021

18 June
2021

19 July
2021

27
August
2021

22
Septe…
2021

55.65% 56.47%

65.22% 66.90%

52.44%
45.11%

48.68%

Legionella

0%

50%

100%

21
March
2021

16
April
2021

20 May
2021

18 June
2021

19 July
2021

27
August
2021

22
Septe…
2021

Gas

0%

50%

100%

21
March
2021

16
April
2021

20 May
2021

18 June
2021

19 July
2021

27
August
2021

22
Septe…
2021

Asbestos (re-inspections)

0%

50%

100%

21
March
2021

16
April
2021

20 May
2021

18 June
2021

19 July
2021

27
August
2021

22
Septe…
2021

22 September 2021.   
   V.7

19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

South Kesteven District Council Improvement Plan – 22 September 2021  

Ref 
Number 

Issues Originally 
Raised 

Comments as of 
November 2020 

Up to date Position  Timescales  Lead Officer  Resources Finance Budgets  RAG 
Rating  

T1 Last full Stock 
Condition Survey 
completed 2009. 
Sample Stock 
Condition 
surveys by 
internal 
surveyors been 
undertaken 
annually, but not 
consistent 
around detail 
and numbers. 

Good Practice 
suggests 
comprehensive 
Stock Condition 
survey should be 
completed every 5 
years. Given 
elapsed time since 
last 
comprehensive 
survey at SKDC 
propose 100% 
external surveys 
and 100% internal 
surveys 
commissioned 
ASAP. 

Surveys commenced 
May 2021 but due to IT 
delays during 
mobilisation the survey 
rate has been slow 
 
The Project Co-
ordinator has started 
conducting some 
analysis and it has been 
established that we are 
experiencing a high 
level of no access. 
We are reviewing the 
access procedure and 
are looking to publicise 
the importance of the 
stock surveys to our 
tenants to improve our 
access rate. However, 
at this time access has 
only been provided to a 
third of the properties 
we have attempted to 
survey. 

Contractor 

commenced 

surveys 24th May. 

The revised full 

stock condition 

survey completion 

date is now March 

22. 

Early results should 

be available from 

September/October 

2021 to allow a 

one-year capital 

programme for 

2021/22.  

 Julie Martin  HRA budget to 
meet costs of 
survey. Julie 
Martin is now 
overseeing this 
project. Project 
Sponsor will be 
new Assistant 
Director. Costs 
for survey initial 
estimate £780k. 

Budget approved 
by Full Council in 
December 2020. 
 
 

 
 

 

 

21



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

  Version 11 

 

 
 

Ref 
Number 

Issues Originally 
Raised 

Comments as of 
November 2020 

Up to date Position  Timescales  Lead Officer  Resources Finance Budgets  RAG 
Rating  

T2 No current and 
effective IT 
solution for 
monitoring and 
managing 
compliance 
requirements 
across key area 
of Technical 
Services. 

Initial work to 
scope out and 
then secure 
demonstrations of 
products to ensure 
IT solution for 
compliant 
monitoring and 
management 
complete. 

Work is ongoing on the 
legionella module, 
however due to the 
Water Hygiene 
contractors IT systems, 
manual updates will be 
required.  The 
legionella module has 
been completed 
however the 
information required 
from the Water 
Hygiene Contractor is 
not in a format which is 
compatible with the 
system. This means 
that the information 
will have to be loaded 
manually.  The contract 
between the Council 
and contractor is being 
reviewed. 
 
The priority remains 
the management of fire 
actions. 

System installation 

completed for Fire, 

Gas & EICR’s. 

Work on the 
module for 
legionella is 
currently underway 
and this should be 
up and running by 
the end of 
December. We are 
discussing the 
Quality Assurance 
inspections for gas 
and electric with 
Propeller but these 
will incur an 
additional cost as 
they are not 
included within 
original spec as 
they are currently 
developing this. 
Any other 
additional modules 
will be at extra cost. 

Julie Martin/ 

Sam Fitt  

System is 
operational and 
data for core 
compliance 
issues being 
loaded. 

Budget approved. 

Costs £76k 20/21 

financial year 

then £39k per 

year. 

 

 
 

 

22



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

  Version 11 

 

 
 

Ref 
Number 

Issues Originally 
Raised 

Comments as of 
November 2020 

Up to date Position  Timescales  Lead Officer  Resources Finance Budgets  RAG 
Rating  

T3 Complete 
Restructure of 
Housing 
Technical 
Services and 
propose 
Strategic 
Housing service. 
Seek to appoint 
new Interim 
Head of 
Technical 
Services as 
priority. 

Review paper on 
the core issues for 
both service areas 
presented. Initial 
view on proposals 
positive. Further 
progress on 
Strategic Housing 
centre required. 

Proposed restructure of 
Technical Services 
being considered 
alongside restructure of 
Housing Management 
to release capacity for 
business improvement 
function.   
 
No response to 
advertisement for 
Capital Investment 
Manager, internal cover 
being used 
(Development 
Manager) options being 
considered under 
broader restructure of 
landlord service.  

Appointment of 
Permanent Head of 
Housing Technical 
Services  
Completed. 
Management posts 
one filled by 
secondment - one 
to fill.  

Andrew Cotton New HOTS 
Commenced 5th 
July. 
Secondment 
into Repairs 
Manager post, 
and 
advertisement 
for other posts 
commencing 
now. 

Budget for 
complete 
restructure to be 
finalised and 
approval sought.  
 

 

23



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

  Version 11 

 

 
 

Ref 
Number 

Issues Originally 
Raised 

Comments as of 
November 2020 

Up to date Position  Timescales  Lead Officer  Resources Finance Budgets  RAG 
Rating  

D1 Review overall 
affordable 
housing 
development 
programme 
required to 
ensure 
maximisation of 
investment 
through direct 
HRA funding. 

Review direct 
investment 
priorities for 
affordable homes, 
and complete 
application and 
submission for 
Preferred 
Development 
Partner Status 
with Homes 
England. 

Council awarded 
Development Partner 
Status December 2020. 
Re-focused housing 
programme confirmed 
to meet local needs.   
Start on two sites 
(Bourne and Stamford) 
delivering 12 units in 
21/22.   
 

 Completed.  Gemma Harte  HRA Capital and 
Revenue budget 
refocused to 
refreshed 
programme and 
to be able to 
respond to 
findings of stock 
surveys.  

HRA balanced 
budget 21/22. 
New 3 year HRA 
budget to be 
established after 
new Asset 
Management Plan 
and HRA Business 
Plan. New Pro Val 
appraisal model 
now operational. 
 
 

 
 

HM1 Significant 
preparatory 
work to select 
new integrated 
HM IT system 
has been 
achieved. A 
review of this 
work initially 
required. 
Current budget 
is inadequate to 
acquire, train, 
and implement 

Likely requirement 
for project team 
for this complex 
initiative to be 
managed. Review 
of initial 
specification, and 
work completed to 
understand total 
costs, and better 
define internal 
resource needs, 
and total costs. 

Pause Northgate 
implementation to 
review, plan, costs, 
scope, and await senior 
management 
recruitment and re 
assess resource needs 
to manage a future 
implementation. 
Report to be prepared, 
incorporating business 
transformation 
principles and project 
scope.  

Initial review of 
specification and 
budget completed. 
New budget 
established £1m 
and has been 
approved in HRA 
21/22 and future 
years to fully 
implement a new 
Northgate system. 
Timeline and 
implementation 

Andrew 
Cotton  

Project team to 
be established 
from internal 
resources, 
recruit Project 
Manager. 
Implementation 
date of a system 
to be revised.   

Budget approved 
in HRA for 21/22 
and future years 
projections.  
 
 

 
 

 

24



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

  Version 11 

 

 
 

Ref 
Number 

Issues Originally 
Raised 

Comments as of 
November 2020 

Up to date Position  Timescales  Lead Officer  Resources Finance Budgets  RAG 
Rating  

new system. So, 
need to review. 

Then necessary 
Cabinet report. 

now to be 
reviewed. 

HM2 Complete Choice 
Based Lettings 
and Allocation 
review process 
and achieve 
introduction of 
revised policy 
and CBL solution 
including 
training. 

Significant work on 
process for 
acquiring new CBL 
solution 
completed. 
Consultation, 
Cabinet, and costs 
along with 
practical timeline 
still to be 
confirmed. 

Consultation on CBL 

carried out during the 

first 3 weeks of 

September – surveys 

sent out & workshops 

undertaken.  The 

consultation closed on 

19/09/2021.  Discussion 

paper to Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee meeting on 

09/12/2021. Members 

briefing discussion in 

January.   

Consultation on 
introduction of CBL 
to commence 
September 2021. IT 
software system to 
be purchased to 
support CBL, this 
has not 
commenced yet.  
We will be seeking 
approval for a 
revised Allocations 
Policy in April next 
year and 
implementation of 
CBL by October 
2022.  

Sarah 
McQueen/ 
Sam Fitt / Ken 
Linford 

Identified 
project team for 
consultation 
work and to 
initially focus on 
CBL 
introduction 
and staff 
training. Report 
to Cabinet to 
follow. 

Budget to support 
CBL included in 
overall budget 
approval. 
 

 
 

 

T4 Agreed essential 
revised capital 
improvements 
programme for 
21/22 financial 

Need to better 
understand how 
current priorities 
are agreed and 
implemented. 

Agree revised 
programme priorities 
for the HRA budget. 
Assess procurement 
impacts and capacity as 

Contracts under 

procurement as 

required. Full HIP 

plan to be 

confirmed, subject 

 Andrew Cotton/ 

Julie Martin  

Additional 
project 
management 
and staffing 
required. Other 

Completed 

Approved HRA 

budget for 2021 

includes 

resources to meet 

 

25



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

  Version 11 

 

 
 

Ref 
Number 

Issues Originally 
Raised 

Comments as of 
November 2020 

Up to date Position  Timescales  Lead Officer  Resources Finance Budgets  RAG 
Rating  

year. This to 
include potential 
new priorities 
such as fencing 
programme, 
windows/door 
entry systems, 
FRA’s and 
electrical 
certificates. 

Detail from any 
stock condition 
activities will not 
feed through for 
many months, but 
a need to improve 
homes, and estate 
environments are 
critical.   

part of process. 
Completed. 
The Project Manager 
for the Earlesfield 
Estate project started 
16 August 2021 and 
work has started on the 
project plan. 

to financial impacts 

of Earlesfield Estate 

improvement 

needs and asbestos 

removal.  

 

resources 
acquired 
through use of 
external and 
internal 
resources. 

procurement and 

project 

management 

needs, but to be 

reviewed. Revised 

capital 

requirements to 

be reported 

though Council’s 

democratic 

process. 

HM3 Complete review 
of core housing 
KPI and 
customer 
standards for 
Housing service. 
This to include 
key issues such 
as void times, 
jobs out of time, 
compliance etc.   

This area of 
activity has not yet 
been reviewed 
fully, procedures 
and key data 
needs to be 
interrogated. Audit 
report identifies 
key risk areas. 

Strong relationship with 
T2 above – to follow 
scoping IT solutions.  
Work progressed with 
Management Team 
service level indicators 
and targets.   

Completed in part 
ongoing work to 
complete full 
housing dashboard 
tasks subject to IT 
solution to be 
completed. 

Andrew Cotton   New resource 
needs to be 
identified to 
develop a 
housing 
dashboard. 

Budget required 
in place from 
current 
establishment 
costs. 
 
 

 
 

 

26



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

  Version 11 

 

 
 

Ref 
Number 

Issues Originally 
Raised 

Comments as of 
November 2020 

Up to date Position  Timescales  Lead Officer  Resources Finance Budgets  RAG 
Rating  

T5 Review key 
reports and 
activities, 
performance 
issues 
underway. This 
includes P&C 
Report relating 
to Riverside. 

New executive 
summary and 
recommendations 
approach for 
reporting to 
members agreed 
re Riverside. 

Presentation to Rural 
and Communities OSC 
target October 2020. 
Completed. 
Still awaiting HSE 
report. 

Update on 
compliance 
progress and issues 
to Rural and 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  
October meeting.  

Andrew Cotton 
 

Still awaiting 
HSE report. 

All completed and 
actions taken 
where 
appropriate. Still 
awaiting HSE 
report so unable 
to complete fully 
until this is known 
including budget 
impacts.  

 

HM4 Grounds 

maintenance 

contract review. 

 

 

 

Meeting to review 

contract structure.  

 

 

 

 

 

Completed review.  

 

 

 

 

 

New contract 

commenced 1st 

April 2021. 

Monitoring by way 

of new client 

contract resources.  

Julie Martin/ 
Mimi  

Impacts 

assessed and 

agreed. 

Contract 

progressing 

well. Some 

contract staffing 

issues being 

monitored. 

Budget agreed 

and included in 

21/22 budget 

significant uplift 

approved for 

better spec. 

 

 

 

T6 Wide issues of 
non-compliance 
identified by 
Internal Audit 
report recently 
received. 
Complete 
contract review 

Initial meeting 
with Auditor 
completed. Agreed 
actions but now 
need to complete 
completion target 
dates for final 
report circulation 

The Housing Audit has 
been completed and 
the draft report 
confirms the progress 
and work completed to 
date. The report is due 
to be presented to 
December’s Rural & 

Review of 
compliance issues 
monitored through 
Housing 
Compliance Group. 
Necessary updates 
then through 
democratic process. 

Andrew Cotton Further IA of 
compliance due 
in 22/23.  
Housemark to 
be engaged to 
benchmark 
compliance 

Good progress 
has been made in 
several key areas. 
Audit review 
identifies. Work 
to continue. 
Implementation 
of Propeller 

 

27



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

  Version 11 

 

 
 

Ref 
Number 

Issues Originally 
Raised 

Comments as of 
November 2020 

Up to date Position  Timescales  Lead Officer  Resources Finance Budgets  RAG 
Rating  

and ensure all 
core contracts. 
renewed and in 
place. 
 

work plan around 
longer term needs 
to be agreed 
especially around 
contract 
arrangements. 
Comments made 
to Auditor 
October. 

Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee.   

 performance in 
22/23.   

system nearing 
completion. Core 
data being 
loaded.  

HS1 Complete review 
of all key 
strategy 
documents 
including 
Tenancy 
Strategy, Asset 
Management 
Plan, HRA 
Business Plan 
etc. 

Work plan to be 
agreed and 
confirmed around 
strategy reviews, 
this includes audit 
report dates for 
key strategy 
needs.  

Complete review of key 
documents and identify 
work plan and 
timelines. 
Revised Tenant 
engagement Strategy 
planned. 
Housing Customer 
Feedback Policy 
approved at Cabinet 13 
July 2021.   
Implementation 
underway.  

New strategic 
documents, likely 
to emerge 
throughout 2021.  
Void Update and 
Housing 
Compensation 
Policy (including 
work on the re-let 
standard) due at 
Cabinet in 2021/22.   
 

Andrew Cotton 
 

No resource 
impacts 
identified at 
present. 

None identified at 
present. When 
stock condition 
outputs known 
then resources to 
be reviewed re 
Asset 
Management 
Plan, and new 
HRA Business 
Plan. 
 
 

 
 

 

 

HM5 Sheltered 
housing 
compliance and 
operational 
review required. 

Work plan to be 
agreed to review 
Sheltered housing 
services. Currently 
under 
consideration. 

Establish areas of 
urgent review around 
service provision and 
compliance needs by 
October 2020. 
Completed. Reviewing 

Review presently 
underway in 
respect of 
Sheltered Housing 
management and 
process 

 Harjinder Lota Resources 
reviewed and 
new partner 
LHP selected for 
Lifeline and 
sheltered 

Savings achieved 
by reviewing 
Lifeline 
monitoring 
arrangements. 
These to be re 

 
 

 

 

28



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

  Version 11 

 

 
 

Ref 
Number 

Issues Originally 
Raised 

Comments as of 
November 2020 

Up to date Position  Timescales  Lead Officer  Resources Finance Budgets  RAG 
Rating  

management system 
and processes.  
Updated separate 
action plan appended, 
with RAG rating. 
Upgrade of hardwire 
alarms to digital 
platform underway. 
Installation of lifelines, 
carbon monoxide 
detectors in place.  

arrangements for 
alarm services and 
new LHP service 
from 1st May 2021.  

housing 
schemes. New 
risks identified 
around smoke 
alarm and hard-
wired systems 
identified. 
Contract to 
resolve 
commences July 
2021. 

invested into 
service 
improvements 
and cover costs of 
risks recently 
identified. 
 
 

T7 Review Asset 
Management 
Plan and HRA 
Business Plan.   

This is a document 
that can only be 
drafted once the 
outcome of the 
stock condition 
survey is 
determined. 

Stock Condition Survey 
required. 
One-year capital 
budget for 2021/22 to 
be developed using 
initial stock condition 
survey findings.  
 

Stock Condition 
Survey underway. 
Asset Management 
Strategy to be 
developed as 
survey data is 
analysed. The 
Target date for 
completion of this 
work is end of 
March 2022. 

Julie Martin/ 

Andrew Cotton / 

Richard Wyles 

 

Awaiting Stock 
Condition 
outputs. 

Budget allocated 
for survey. Asset 
Management Plan 
and HRA plan to 
be developed 
with internal 
resources. 

 
 

 

HS2 Empty Homes 
Strategy.  

The Council does 
not have an Empty 
Homes Strategy 
and one will be 
produced. 

EH Strategy drafted and 
with legal for comment.    
To be considered by 
Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 

Draft Strategy to 
Cabinet in 2021/22.  

Andrew Cotton Senior housing 
policy & 
strategy officer 
tasked to write 
EH policy. 

Budget impacts of 
strategy to be 
assessed. 

 

29



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

  Version 11 

 

 
 

Ref 
Number 

Issues Originally 
Raised 

Comments as of 
November 2020 

Up to date Position  Timescales  Lead Officer  Resources Finance Budgets  RAG 
Rating  

Committee October 
2021.   

D2 Preferred 
Developer Status 
for Homes 
England grant.  

An initial 
application has 
been submitted by 
the Council for 
Home England 
consideration. 

Application completed 
after reviewing 
submission details. 

Initial application 
submitted.  
This has been 
approved.  

 Julie 
Martin/Gemma 
Harte  

First application 
for grant to be 
made ASAP in 
21/22. 

Any provision of 
grant will reduce 
call on HRA 
capital 
requirements by 
up to 30% per 
scheme. 

 
 

 

HM6 Engagement 
with Tenants to 
inform and seek 
views on service 
standards/and 
Quality issues in 
accordance with 
Housing Act 
Provisions 
required. 

Initial review of 
technology 
solutions to 
provide contact, 
and feedback on 
receipt of services, 
including 
intelligence 
gathering 
capabilities re 
tenant attitudes 
and priorities 
required. 

Review existing tenant 
consultation, and 
engagement strategy 
and then to be 
developed. 
Rant and Rave software 
in build phase, go live 
October 2021.   
 
Working Party 
developing “the Big 
Listen” – STAR survey 
to complete by March 
2022 to inform HRA 
Business Plan 
development in 
2022/23.  

Technology 
acquisition through 
the Government 
procurement G 
Cloud. 
Implementation 
from June 2021. 

Andrew Cotton Technology 
preferred 
solution 
selected April 
2021.  
Completed. 
Contract 
documentation 
approved. 
System to be 
built from June 
2021 and 
operational July 
2021. 

Necessary funding 
for technology 
solution budget 
estimated at £35k. 
Now approved. 
Implementation 
phase underway. 

 
 
 

30



Housing Repairs and Maintenance Service Improvement Plan 

  Version 11 

 

 
 

Reference Number Key: 

Reference 
Number 

Area 

T Technical Services 

HS Housing Services 

D Development 

HM Housing Management 

 

  

31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

7 October 2021 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 

           

Empty Homes Strategy 

This report seeks to provide the Committee with information on the issue of empty homes within 
the District and provides a draft Empty Homes Strategy with suggested aims, options and 
enforcement powers to bring empty homes back into use for discussion and comment. 

 

Report Author 

Celia Bown (Senior Housing Policy and Strategy Officer) 

 
 07900 270419 

  c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

N/A  All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Andrew Cotton, Director of Housing and Property  22 September 2021 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive  28 September 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property 

28 September 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

That Committee: 

1. Notes and discusses the content of this report and the draft strategy; 

2. Provides comment and suggestion in relation to the strategic approach; 

3. Recommends further work is undertaken to submit an Empty Homes Strategy for 
Cabinet consideration. 

 

33

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

The national context  

1.1 Empty homes continue to be on the national political agenda:  the 2011 Government 

strategy ‘Laying the Foundations, A Housing Strategy for England’ identified long term 

empty homes as a priority.  Within the 2017 Housing White Paper ‘Fixing our Broken 

Housing Market’, there was the commitment to improve neighbourhoods by continuing to 

crack down on long term empty homes.   

1.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 states that planning policies and 

decisions should promote and support the development of under-utilised land and 

buildings.  As part of this approach, plans and decisions should support efforts to identify 

and bring back into use long term empty homes and other buildings, supported using 

compulsory purchase powers where appropriate. 

1.3 Empty homes brought back into use can provide additional housing; empty homes can fall 

into disrepair and attract vandalism, anti-social behaviour and vermin.  They can also 

affect the appearance of an area, which negatively impacts property prices. 

1.4 The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) continues to 

support Homes England, which is responsible for, amongst many other matters, bringing 

long term empty homes back into use as affordable housing.  The MHCLG classes 

problematic empty properties as those that are inactive in the housing market and have 

been empty for more than 6 months.  Homes that have been recorded as empty for more 

than 6 months are classified as long-term empty by South Kesteven District Council.  

The South Kesteven Context  

1.5 On 30 June 2021, South Kesteven had 396 properties empty for between six months and 

two years, and 130 empty for two years or more (a total of 526 empty properties for six or 

more months).  This is due to various reasons but, most commonly, it is because the 

occupant has deceased, and the property is going through probate.   

1.6 To compare this figure with the previous year, the total number of empty properties, which 

have been empty for 6 or more months, as at 31 March 2020 was 609, whereas, as at 31 

March 2021, it was 567 properties.  This shows an improved situation with a reduction of 

42 empty properties. 

1.7 In comparison to other Lincolnshire areas for 2020, apart from North Kesteven, who have 

a rate of 0.84% of total dwellings as empty, South Kesteven has the lowest amount at 

1.04% of total homes.  The rate for South Kesteven in 2020 is below the East Midlands 

rate, which is 1.45% of total dwellings and similar to the England rate of 1.05%. 

1.8 Most empty properties are privately owned. Some of the most common barriers that exist 

for owners of long-term empty properties that are preventing them from returning their 

property back into use include: 

− issues with inheritance and/or delays with probate;  

− lack of finance to carry out necessary repairs and/or refurbishment;  

− perceived problems associated with letting of properties; and/or 

− owner unwilling to bring the property back into use.  

34

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/laying-the-foundations-a-housing-strategy-for-england--2https:/www.gov.uk/government/publications/laying-the-foundations-a-housing-strategy-for-england--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


 

 
 

1.9 The Council’s Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy (2018) has a section on empty 

properties. This states that owners of long term (6+ months) empty residential properties 

are encouraged to bring them back into use through a range of informal action including 

guidance and advice and also that formal enforcement action may be taken. 

1.10 South Kesteven has an unmet housing need.    Although South Kesteven does not have 

an extensive empty homes problem, the lack of a formally adopted strategy can constrain 

making decisions on the best course of action to take.   

The draft Empty Homes Strategy  

1.11 The Empty Homes Strategy aims to address one of the challenges identified in the South 

Kesteven Housing Strategy 2020-2024: “As well as building more homes, it is important 

that we maximise the use of existing homes by working with landlords to bring empty 

homes back into use”.  It also plays a role in delivering the Corporate Plan priority: 

“Housing that meets the needs of all residents” and the Key Action: “Bring private sector 

empty properties back in to use”. 

1.12 This Empty Homes Strategy identifies how the Council will reduce the number of empty 

properties within South Kesteven by adopting a proactive approach in bringing them back 

into use.  The proposed priorities for the strategy are: 

Priority 1: The Council will identify and work with owners of long-term empty properties to 

bring them back into use for re-occupation. 

Priority 2: Develop effective partnerships with key stakeholders to bring empty properties 

back into use. 

Priority 3: Improve our neighbourhoods by addressing long term empty homes that have 

become the focus of anti-social behaviour and neglect. 

Priority 4:  Provide advice and information to help raise awareness around empty 

properties. 

Delivery of the Strategy 

1.13 For the implementation and delivery of the strategy, an officer from either the Council Tax; 

Environmental Health or Housing teams will engage with the owners of any long-term 

empty properties, offering informal advice and assistance.   Given the current low numbers 

of empty homes, the lack of a dedicated Officer resource is not felt to impede any future 

delivery, especially given the context that the introduction of a dedicated resource would 

provide a financial pressure on the Council.   The management team will however 

continue to monitor any workload pressures and ameliorate within existing resources as 

appropriate.    

1.14 At the two years empty stage or from 6 months empty, if complaints are received that an 

empty home is causing problems, the officer will refer the matter to a proposed new Empty 

Property Working Group, once initial options have been explored.  The working group will 

include officers from different departments across the Council such as Environmental 

Health, Council Tax and Housing.  They will work jointly in identifying problematic empty 

properties and finding solutions to bring them back into use. The working group will meet 

quarterly and will determine the most appropriate way forward to bring back to use each 

long-term empty home.  The decision might be enforcement measures such as 

Compulsory Purchase, Empty Dwelling Management Orders or Enforced Sales.  

35

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=26362&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=26362&p=0


 

 
 

1.15 Engagement with owners of long-term empty homes and any related enforcement action 

can be time consuming and additional officer resources may be needed.  Committee may 

recommend that work is undertaken to consider the cost/benefit of an Empty Homes 

Officer on a part-time basis or as a shared resource with another Council.  If this is 

supported in principle, the financial impact this will have on the Council will be calculated. 

1.16 The number of empty homes brought back into use is a corporate performance measure.  

Performance will be reported through the usual corporate governance arrangements. An 

annual report on the impact of empty properties and the successful interventions can be 

submitted to Committee if required. 

Financial Considerations  

1.17 In terms of incentives, the issue of grants or loans can be considered.  South Kesteven 

District Council used to issue grants to the owners of empty homes to bring them back into 

use and they were felt to be not effective. The grants were originally for £3,000 and this 

was raised to £5,000 to create more interest.  The availability of these grants was in place 

for 11 years but came to an end in 2018/19 due to a lack of interest.  This was mainly 

because owners of properties can get bank loans with a low interest and the conditions in 

place as part of the loan (the property needing to be rented out at the Local Housing 

Allowance rate and to applicants on the Council housing register) were felt to be onerous.  

The grants were administered by Council officers but not a specific Empty Homes Officer, 

and they were funded through monies received from the New Homes Bonus. 

1.18 A further option is for the Council to buy or long lease properties.  However, the purchase 

and/or long lease of properties pepper potted across the District are unlikely to be 

commercially viable and difficult to manage. Billing authorities in England have the power 

to increase council tax in respect of dwellings which have been ‘unoccupied and 

substantially unfurnished’ for a long period of time. This is known as the ‘empty homes 

premium’. It is for the billing authority to decide whether to levy an empty homes premium.  

This power is contained in the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax 

(Empty Dwellings) Act 2018.  The legislation made changes to the premium levels for 

empty properties in the following way: 

 

− 100% premium (i.e. extra) for substantially unfurnished dwellings empty for 2-5 

 Years introduced from 2019/20 

 

− 200% premium (i.e. extra) for substantially unfurnished dwellings empty for 5- 

 years introduced from 2020/21 

 

− 300% premium (i.e. extra) for substantially unfurnished dwellings empty for 10+ 
years introduced from 2021/22 

 

 

 

 

 

36



 

 
 

 

The Council introduced these premium increases over the legislative approved period with 

the most increase introduced on 1 April 2021.  Analysis demonstrates that the introduction 

of the premium has had a positive impact on the reduction of empty homes across the 

district.  This is shown in the following table: 
 

 100% 200% 300% Assumption/Comment 

May 2019 144    

May 2020 107 50  • Of the 144 properties attracting 100% in May 
2019, 50 moved into the next premium – 
meaning 94 or 65.28% came back into use 
within 12 months 

May 2021 81 27 24 • Of the 107 properties attracting 100% in May 
2020, 27 moved into the next premium – 
meaning 80 or 74.77% came back in to use 
within 12 months 

• Of the 50 properties attracting 200% in May 
2020, only 24 moved into the next premium – 
meaning 26 or 52%% came back in to use 
within 12 months 

 

1.19 This high-level analysis demonstrates that the premium charge is having a positive impact 

on reducing the number of empty properties which is in line with the Government’s 

objective.  This reduction has been over the same period that the Council tax base has 

increased by 996 properties (or 2.1%) thus demonstrating that the reduction in the empty 

properties is proportionally greater.  However, it is important the use of the premium 

charge is kept under review to ensure it does not create or encourage adverse behaviours 

from the taxpayers’ perspective.  

1.20 An option that could be considered is the removal of the Council Tax premium charge for a 

limited period, e.g.3 months (to be considered on a case by case basis using discretion) to 

allow ownership to be transferred to a new owner. This would give the new owner the 

opportunity to get the property back on the market.  Conditions and expectations for when 

the premium can be removed would be set out e.g. once the property is occupied.  If this 

was intended to be introduced, we would need to: 

− Include it as part of Council Tax Support scheme or budget consultation. 

− Consult with Lincolnshire County Council and the Police Crime Commissioner as it 
will have a direct impact on their income as major preceptors. 

− Have consideration for the potential loss of additional income raised through the 
premium. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 This is the first time this strategy has been brought to the Rural and Communities Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee for discussion. 

2.2 Consultation has taken place with relevant officers across the Council Tax, Environmental 

Health and Housing teams. 

 

37



 

 
 

3 Options Considered 

3.1 Option 1 – continue with no adopted strategy.   

3.2 Option 2 – undertake further work to: 

a) Understand the costs/benefits of the financial considerations as detailed above, 
including benchmarking;  

b) Consult with relevant bodies in terms of the approach; and  

c) Submit a report for Cabinet’s consideration to formally adopt an Empty Homes 
Strategy.   

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 Option 2.   

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 Across the Council Tax, Environmental Health and Housing teams, this is considered to 

be the most proactive and pragmatic approach to bringing empty homes back into use. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 N/A as a decision is not permitted by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The financial analysis demonstrates that there has been a positive impact on reducing the 

number of long-term empty properties following the introduction of the empty homes 

premium charge from 2019/20.  The introduction of the financial charge is therefore 

fulfilling the objective of bringing empty homes back into use.  Members are reminded that 

the Council receives 9% (or £9) for every £100 Council tax income received. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 Whilst there is no requirement to hold an ‘empty homes strategy’, the Council does retain 

strategic housing responsibilities and this document helps towards continued delivery of its 

statutory duties. 

8.2 The Council’s powers and duties in relation to enforcement are contained within various 

statutes including the Housing Act 1985, the Housing Act 2004, the Law of Property Act 

1925 and the Acquisition of Land Act 1981. In cases where enforcement action is 

required, advice and input from Legal Services is always sought.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 This strategy will not have any negative implications on the protected characteristics of the 

Equality Act, 2010.  A full Equality Impact Assessment will be presented to Cabinet. 

 

 

 

38



 

 
 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Risk to decreased income from the Council Tax premium charge.  This will be mitigated 

via a cap on the length of time the premium charge can be removed.  If this results in a 

property being brought back into use, this will reduce the amount of long-term empty 

properties used to calculate the reduction in the New Homes Bonus paid. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 There will be positive community safety implications because empty properties brought 

back into use will reduce likely associated anti-social behaviour and vandalism at or near 

the properties. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Carbon neutral – no identified issues found.   

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None identified. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – draft Empty Homes Strategy. 

 

 

 

39



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Empty Homes Strategy 

 

Draft - Version 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

41



 

 
 

Foreword 

By the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property. 

1. Introduction 

What is an empty property? 
 
There are broadly two main types of empty residential properties: transactional 
empty properties and long-term empty properties. Transactional empty properties 
are generally empty up to six months, usually due to a change in tenant or ownership 
and are part of the normal cycle of people moving house; though they may be empty 
longer should they be subject to major renovation works. Although transactional 
empty properties are less of a priority to the council, they can still present a concern 
should their condition become a hazard or contribute towards a poor street scene.  
 
In some instances, a property may be empty or appear empty, but is not classed as 
empty. A property does not have to be used all the time to be classed as occupied. 
For example, if it is:  
 

• a second home or a holiday home;  

• a property which is part of a wider regeneration programme and could be in the 
process of being developed or marked for demolition;  

• a property which has pending planning permission, could be waiting 
refurbishment or could be waiting for new occupants to move in;  

• a property where the owner is living elsewhere to provide or receive personal 
care.  

 
The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) classes 
problematic empty properties as those that are inactive in the housing market and 
have been empty for more than 6 months.  Homes that have been recorded as 
empty for more than 6 months are classified as long-term empty by South Kesteven 
District Council.  
  
Why do properties become empty? 
 
Properties that have been empty for more than six months usually have an 
underlying problem. When properties have been empty for more than two years, it is 
likely that they will stay empty and decline without intervention. Long term empty 
properties can become a hub for crime and attract vandalism and anti-social 
behaviour. They can become run down, fall into disrepair, have overgrown gardens 
and blight the surrounding properties and neighbourhood. Neighbouring owners may 
be particularly dissatisfied and may find their house value has diminished or may be 
difficult to let or sell. Bringing long term empty properties back into use is a priority 
for the Council and will contribute to increasing the supply of homes in the district.  
 
Most empty properties are privately owned. There are many reasons for properties 
being left empty, some are easily categorised, and other circumstances are more 
complex with owners having their own individual reasons for keeping their property 
empty. Some of the most common barriers that exist for owners of long term empty 

42



 

 
 

properties that are preventing them from returning their property back into use 
include: 
  

• issues with inheritance and/or delays with probate;  

• lack of finance to carry out necessary repairs and/or refurbishment;  

• perceived problems associated with letting of properties;  

• owner unwilling to bring the property back into use.  
 
Why have an Empty Property Strategy?  

Issues 
 
High levels of empty properties are recognised as having a serious impact on the 
viability of communities in terms of blight on neighbourhoods and potential for anti-
social behaviour to occur. Empty homes are also a wasted resource and when 
brought back into use contribute to an increase in the supply of housing. Dealing with 
empty properties can therefore have social, economic and regenerative benefits. 
 
As at the 30 June 2021 (the end of 2021/22 quarter one), South Kesteven had 396 

properties empty for six months up to two years and 130 empty for two years or 

more (a total of 526 empty properties for six or more months).  This is due to various 

reasons but most commonly it is because the occupant has deceased and the 

property is going through probate.  There are only two empty properties in the district 

which are causing significant problems.  One is where a bankruptcy order has been 

issued due to non-payment of Council Tax and for the other, the landlord is unable to 

let at the current advertised rent. 

Of these total 526 empty properties, 21 of them are Council owned which have been 

empty for 6 or more months. 

To compare this figure with the previous year, the total number of empty properties, 

which have been empty for 6 or more months, as at 31st March 2020 was 609, 

whereas, as at 31st March 2021, it was 567 properties.  This shows an improved 

situation with a reduction of 42 empty properties. 

Central Government collects data on empty dwellings in October of each year.  For 

South Kesteven, the number of empty dwellings for the last three years were: 

2018 – 512 (0.81% of total homes: 63,075) 

2019 – 533 (0.84% of total homes: 63,751) 

2020 – 672 (1.04% of total homes: 64,480) 

In comparison to other Lincolnshire areas for 2020, apart from North Kesteven, who 

have a rate of 0.84% of total dwellings as empty, South Kesteven has the lowest 

amount. 

For most areas of Lincolnshire there was a decrease in the number of empty 

dwellings across Lincolnshire in 2013 but there has been a gradual rise each year 

since.  All areas of Lincolnshire saw an increase between 2019 and 2020. 

43



 

 
 

The Coronavirus pandemic has had an impact on the rise in the number of empty 
dwellings in 2020.  There were restrictions in movement, which resulted in 
restrictions to the letting and sale of properties.  Even once restrictions were lifted, 
the level of property moves was not at the same rate as usual.   In addition to this, 
employment redundancies lead to property repossessions, which meant more 
properties were left empty. 
 
The rate of 1.04% empty dwellings of total dwellings for South Kesteven in 2020 is 

below the East Midlands rate, which is 1.45% of total dwellings and similar to the 

England rate of 1.05%. 

This Empty Homes Strategy identifies how the Council, with support from partners, 

will reduce the number of empty properties within South Kesteven by bringing them 

back into use.  

South Kesteven District Council is committed to tackling empty properties by 

adopting a proactive approach in supporting owners to help return their property to 

use. Empty properties constitute a wasted housing resource, both for individual 

owners and the local community. Long-term empty properties can fall into a state of 

disrepair and become dangerous as well as having a negative environmental impact. 

A coordinated and sustainable approach can deliver an increase in housing supply, 

improve standards and reduce the number of empty homes. 

Benefits 
 
New Homes Bonus 

The New Homes Bonus is a grant paid by central government to local authorities for 
increasing the net level of housing. This bonus is for every additional home and paid 
each year for six years. The bonus is based on the amount of extra Council Tax 
revenue raised for new build homes, conversions and long term empty homes 
brought back into use. There is an additional payment for providing affordable 
homes. 
  
The scheme is an incentive for local authorities to have an effective Empty Homes 

Strategy. Grant will only be paid for a net increase in housing, meaning that local 

authorities could miss out on rewards for new homes built if empty property levels 

are allowed to increase. At a time when local government grant funding has been 

significantly reduced, this provides an added incentive to continue our work to bring 

empty properties back into use. 

Shortage of affordable homes 

In addition, there is a shortage of affordable homes and increasing the number of 

occupied dwellings will assist with this shortage.  The Peterborough sub-region 

(Peterborough, Rutland, South Holland and South Kesteven) and Boston Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), 2019 identifies a need of 16,125 dwellings 

from 2011 to 2036 for South Kesteven, which equates to 650 new homes per year.  

Of these, 244 are identified as needing to be affordable dwellings per year for the 

district. 

44



 

 
 

The Government set a target for 300,000 new homes to be built each year across 

England but a House of Commons Briefing Paper: Tackling the under-supply of 

housing in England, January 2021, states “estimates have put the number of new 

homes needed in England at up to 345,000 per year, accounting for new household 

formation and a backlog of existing need for suitable housing”. 

The total number of new homes built for South Kesteven for 2020/21 is 446 and of 

these, 56 are affordable dwellings. 

The House of Commons Briefing Paper: Tackling the under-supply of housing in 

England states “in 2019/20, the total housing stock in England increased by around 

244,000 homes. This is around 1% higher than the year before – and the amount of 

new homes supplied annually has been growing for several years – but is still lower 

than estimated need”. 

2. Strategic Background 

National Context 

Empty homes continue to be on the National political agenda: 
 
The 2011 government strategy ‘Laying the Foundations, A Housing Strategy for 

England’ identified long term empty homes as a priority.  

It introduced New Homes Bonus payments for bringing empty homes back into use, 

provided grant funding from 2012-15 to bring properties back into use mostly as 

affordable housing through the former Homes and Communities Agency (now 

Homes England), and allowed councils to introduce an empty homes premium on 

council tax charges. 

The 2017 Housing White Paper Fixing our Broken Housing Market set out the 
government’s plans to boost the supply of new homes in England. It included a 
commitment from the government to:  

• Plan for the right homes in the right places  

• Build homes faster  

• Diversify the housing market  

• Help people now  
 
Within the White Paper there was the commitment to improve neighbourhoods by 

continuing to crack down on long term empty homes and support areas most 

affected by second homes. The Government pledged to continue to support local 

authorities to encourage efficient use of its existing stock, making best use of homes 

that are long-term empty. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 states that planning policies 
and decisions should promote and support the development of under-utilised land 
and buildings, especially if this would help meet identified needs for housing where 
land supply is constrained and available sites could be used more effectively. As part 
of this approach, plans and decisions should support efforts to identify and bring 

45

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-7671/CBP-7671.pdf
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-7671/CBP-7671.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/laying-the-foundations-a-housing-strategy-for-england--2https:/www.gov.uk/government/publications/laying-the-foundations-a-housing-strategy-for-england--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/laying-the-foundations-a-housing-strategy-for-england--2https:/www.gov.uk/government/publications/laying-the-foundations-a-housing-strategy-for-england--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-market
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


 

 
 

back into use long term empty homes and other buildings, supported using 
compulsory purchase powers where appropriate. 
 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government continues to support 
Homes England, which is responsible for: 
  
Increasing the number of new homes that are built in England, including affordable 
homes and homes for market, sale or rent.  

 

• Improving existing affordable homes  

• and bringing long term empty homes back into use as affordable housing.  

• Increasing the supply of public land and speeding up the rate that it can be built 
on.  

• Helping to stimulate local economic growth by using their land and investment 
and attracting private sector investment in local areas.  

 
Homes England provides a number of funding programmes, including funding to 

bring long term empty homes back into use as affordable housing. South Kesteven 

District Council will work in partnership with Registered Providers (RPs) to access 

this funding to bring long term empty homes back into use as affordable housing. 

Local Context 

This Empty Homes Strategy complements the South Kesteven Housing Strategy 

2020-2024.  At the heart of the Housing Strategy is “the belief that homes are a 

fundamental part of our lives. Houses should be 'healthy', good quality, sustainable 

and secure, providing the environment for people to thrive and achieve.”  The Empty 

Homes Strategy aims to address one of the challenges identified in the Housing 

Strategy: “As well as building more homes, it is important that we maximise the use 

of existing homes by working with landlords to bring empty homes back into use”.   

It also plays a role in delivering the Corporate Plan priority: “Housing that meets the 

needs of all residents” and the Key Action: “Bring private sector empty properties 

back in to use”. 

The Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy (2018) has a section on empty 

properties. This states: 

“Owners of long term (6+ months) empty residential properties are encouraged to 

bring them back into use through a range of informal action including guidance and 

advice. The Council may offer financial assistance to owners to bring properties back 

into use in certain circumstances. Where the condition of a property is having a 

severe impact on neighbours, the Council may use a range of appropriate 

enforcement powers. Where a property is unsecured and unauthorised entry is being 

made, the Council may use powers to secure the property, including boarding of 

doors and windows”. 

The Policy allows for the use of Enforced Sale, the use of Empty Dwellings 

Management Orders (EDMOs) and Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPOs). 

46

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=26362&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=26362&p=0


 

 
 

Enforcement by SKDC so far has been either boarding or tidying up the property and 
Enforced Sale.  This is only possible where money is owed (minimum £1,000).  The 
Council has not applied for a EDMO or CPO. 
 
SKDC used to issue grants to the owners of empty homes to bring them back into 

use.   The grants were originally for £3,000 and this was raised to £5,000 to create 

more interest.  The availability of these grants was in place for 11 years but came to 

an end in 2018/19 due to a lack of interest.  This was mainly because owners of 

properties can get bank loans with a low interest and the conditions in place as part 

of the loan (the property needing to be rented out at the Local Housing Allowance 

rate and to applicants on the Council housing register) were considered to be 

onerous.  The grants were administered as part of someone's job role, not a specific 

Empty Homes Officer, and they were funded through monies received from the New 

Homes Bonus. 

Council tax charges at South Kesteven District Council: 

EMPTY 

100% 

DISCOUNT 

EMPTY 

25% 

DISCOUNT 

EMPTY 0% 

DISCOUNT 

LTE 

+50% 

premium 

LTE+100% 

Premium 

LTE+200% 

Premium 

LTE+300% 

premium 

1 month 

from date 

property 

first 

becomes 

empty 

2 to 5 

months  

6+ months Up to 2 

years 

Over 2 

years 

Over 5 

years 

Over 10 

years 

 
Legislation 
 
Particularly useful powers and procedures for the Council include: 

• Town and County Planning Act 1990 – section 215 

• Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

• Historic Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1991 

• Building Act 1984 – section 76-80 

• Housing Act 2004 – Parts 1-4 

• Local Government Act 2003 

• Local Government (Misc Prov) Act 1982 

• Local Government Act 2000 

• Prevention of Damage by Pest Act 1949 – section 4 

• Environmental Protection Act 1990 – Part2 and section 80 

• Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 – Part 1 
 

*This list is not exhaustive* 
 
The Housing Act 2004 introduced Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs) 
which are a legal device which enable local authorities to put an unoccupied property 
back into use as housing.  

47



 

 
 

 
The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) 

Act 2018 allows local authorities to increase the percentage by which a billing 

authority in England may increase the council tax payable in respect of a long-term 

empty dwelling.  

3. Priorities 

Priority 1: The Council will identify and work with owners of long term empty 
 properties to bring them back into use for re-occupation 
 
Priority 2: Develop effective partnerships with key stakeholders to bring empty 
 properties back into use. 
 
Priority 3:  Improve our neighbourhoods by addressing long term empty homes that 
 have become the focus of anti-social behaviour and neglect. 
 
Priority 4:  Provide advice and information to help raise awareness around empty 
 properties. 
 
The Council will focus on those homes empty for two years or longer, to make the 

best use of limited resources, as these homes are considered to have the greatest 

impact on the community. 

Homes become vacant as part of the natural cycle of the housing market, whether 

for sale or between lettings. A policy of “no vacant homes” would be both 

unreasonable and unrealistic, but the Council does not want to tolerate long term 

empty homes when there is an unmet demand for housing, nor does it want to 

tolerate the impact that problematic empty homes have on the community. 

4. Resources/Finance and Implementation/Delivery 

Resources/Finance available to the Council 

A report will be presented to the Head of Service/Director for any high resource 

eventualities such as Compulsory Purchase, Empty Dwelling Management Orders 

and Enforced Sales - This will ensure proper processes are considered and the risks 

to the Council mitigated as much as possible. 

Any incurred expenditure will be funded from the Flexible Homelessness Support 

Grant and any New Homes Bonus received. 

Homes England funding – Shared Ownership Affordable Housing Programme 

Implementation/Delivery 

An officer from the Council’s Environmental Health/Housing teams will attempt to: 

Engage with the owner of each empty home from 6 months empty, offering advice, 

assistance and voluntary options for occupation, and assessing the background, 

condition and impact of each property.  

48



 

 
 

At the two years empty stage or from 6 months empty, if complaints are received that 

an empty home is causing problems, the officer will refer the matter to a newly 

introduced Empty Property Working Group, once initial options have been explored. 

The working group will include officers from different departments across the Council 

such as Environmental Health, Council Tax and Housing.  They will work jointly in 

identifying problematic empty properties and finding solutions to bring them back into 

use. The working group will meet quarterly and will determine the most appropriate 

way forward and create an action plan to bring back to use each long term empty 

home. 

The impact of each two-year long empty home, on matters such as the extent of anti-

social behaviour and vandalism, will be assessed using a scoring matrix. Those 

properties with the highest scores are those most likely to be identified for 

enforcement action if the initial options are unsuccessful. 

5. Tools and Powers 

Initial Options  

Advice & Guidance 

In the first instance, owners will be given advice and assistance on how to bring their 

property back into use. These options could be renting out the property, selling the 

property or advice on becoming a landlord. The aim is to encourage owners to bring 

the property back into use through voluntary action. This action will commence from 

six months empty, but the length of time it takes to bring a property back into use will 

depend on the owner’s personal and financial circumstances.  

Financial assistance 

The Council directs owners to advice on VAT reductions which may be available 

when renovating an empty property and discounts from local building merchants and 

estate agents. The Council will look for any funding sources in partnership with other 

organisations.  

Voluntary Arrangement 

The Council may facilitate the introduction of the owner to a Registered Provider, 

Community Land Trust or private individual(s) to sell or lease the empty property. 

The Council, in this instance, will not be acting as an estate agent or providing 

advice or recommendation to either party. Any negotiation and sales processes 

would take place between the owners, interested party and their legal 

representatives.   

It is useful to have the option to offer a voluntary lease and repair agreement to 

owners prior to an EDMO, and necessary to offer a voluntary acquisition of the 

property prior to proceeding to Compulsory Purchase, in a staged approach to 

enforcement. Models for voluntary acquisition need to be developed, whether for 

Council housing stock, a housing company, or in partnership with a Registered 

Provider or Community Land Trust. Funding sources need to be identified, and the 

49



 

 
 

barrier of mortgage companies refusing second charges on leased properties 

remains a national issue.  

Statutory enforcement 

Where owners show reluctance to engage with the Council officers and continue to 

ignore their responsibilities in respect of the property, the officers will use relevant 

enforcement powers to reduce the impact the property is having on the area and 

abate any statutory nuisance being caused to neighbouring properties. Persistent 

enforcement of this type can result in the owner bringing the property back into use 

to prevent further notices being served. Non-compliance with a statutory notice can 

reduce the compensation costs of compulsory purchase or lead to works in default 

and an enforced sale. 

A co-ordinated approach will be planned by the Empty Property Working Group.   

Where these initial options are unsuccessful in bringing the empty home back to use, 

specific empty home enforcement powers will be considered. 

Enforced sale  

Purpose:  

Many statutes allow the Council to serve a notice requiring the owner of a property to 

carry out works, for example to deal with the dangerous or untidy condition of the 

property. Non-compliance of a statutory notice can lead to the council carrying works 

in default, which create a land charge against the property. Enforced Sale is a 

procedure to recover such a debt owed to the Council, and a similar procedure can 

be used to recover unpaid Council Tax.  

Enforced Sale is not in itself a procedure to deal with problematic properties, but the 

enforced sale of empty properties brings two main benefits: a debt owed to the 

Council is recovered; and a change of ownership is secured with the expectation that 

the new owner will bring it back to use. 

Legal costs are recouped from the sale of the property, and any surplus is paid to the 

owner or mortgagee.  

Legislation:  

The power to enforce the sale of a property to recover a local land charge is in the 

Law of Property Act 1925, section 103. Once an initial notice is served, owners have 

3 months to pay the debt before the sale is enforced. 

Council tax debts are personal debts and not charged against a property. The 

process to recover a council tax debt requires an application to court for a charging 

order followed by an order for sale. 

 

 

 

50



 

 
 

Considerations:  

a) The owner may pay the debt and the property remains vacant and unsold:  

•  The threat of an Enforced Sale will usually be sufficient to encourage an 

owner to dispose of the property or return it to use voluntarily, if not other 

enforcement options can be explored.  

•  The council is unable to recover its costs to date and these need to be offset 

against the recovered debt. It is recommended that the minimum debt level 

prior to commencing action is £1000.  

 

b) There is not sufficient equity in the property to recoup the costs owed to the 

Council:  

•  Where the charge is binding on the “premises and on all estates and 

interests therein” it is a priority charge. Performing an Enforced Sale, due 

to none compliance of a S215 Town and Country Planning Notice, would 

only be suitable if there is equity after any other registered charge.  

 

c) The property is sold but the new owner does not return the property to use:  

•  This will remain a risk, but in most cases, people purchase as they have an 

intention to utilise the property for income or occupation. The usual process 

for sale is through auction, however a preferred purchaser can be used. 

Other enforcement options can be considered against the new owner.  

Costs:  

Relative to Compulsory Purchase Orders, Enforced Sales are swift, less 

complicated, and economical. There is no requirement, as with the compulsory 

purchase order, to pay market value or any compensation. 

When the Council’s debt is a priority charge, all costs incurred by the Council in the 

sale process are recoverable before any third party charges on the property are 

repaid. As such, the procedure should be cost neutral to the Council.  

An initial budget is needed to cover these costs, which should be recycled from the 

recovered funds. 

Empty Dwelling Management Order (EDMO)  

Purpose:  

The intention of EDMOs is to bridge the gap between voluntary measures and 

existing compulsory purchase powers to provide better management of a property 

deliberately left vacant for at least two years that is having a negative impact on the 

community.  

The threat of an EDMO can put pressure on the owner to engage with the authority 

and agree the best course of action to secure occupation of the dwelling, thereby 

avoiding the need for an interim or final EDMO, to be made.  

A EDMO is intended to operate alongside existing measures, such as voluntary 

leasing schemes explored above. It will provide an effective back-up to such 

51



 

 
 

arrangements where owners turn down offers of assistance and do not have plans of 

their own to bring the property back into use. Properties subject to EDMO can be 

used to meet housing need without the upfront cost of acquisition, subject to risk 

assessment. 

A management scheme sets out in detail how the Council intends to manage the 

property, to include the works it intends to undertake, Capital and Revenue 

estimates for the costs of these works, how much rent the Council will seek from 

tenants, and provisions for paying any surplus to the owner.  

Legislation:  

Housing Act 2004 Part 4, S132–138 & Schedule 7.  

The Council must give the owner at least 3 months’ notice of their intention to make 

an application for an EDMO. 

The Council applies to the First Tier Tribunal (Property Chamber) for an Interim 

EDMO, which lasts for one year. During this time the Council can enter the property 

to determine works required and make arrangements for the property’s 

management. If the property is in reasonable condition occupation can be secured 

with the consent of the owner. 

If voluntary measures fail to bring the property back into use during this interim 

period, the Council then makes a final EDMO to take control of the property for up to 

seven years, carrying out improvement works prior to renting the property out. 

Costs: 

The rental income is used to pay for any works and management costs.  Therefore, 

the condition of the property is a critical consideration when determining whether or 

not this is a viable financial option. A budget of £10,000 to £15,000 is needed up 

front for the refurbishment works. 

Considerations:  

• Property must have been vacant for 2 years, be having a negative impact, and 

it is useful to show community support for the EDMO.  

• The Council may be unable to recover the cost of the initial works from the 

rental income, if the home is in very poor condition or rent is unpaid.  

• The owner or mortgage lender can appeal against the application for an EDMO 

• Arrangements for the management of the property need to be made, through 

the Council’s housing directorate or housing company or procurement of a 

private firm. 

• A budget is needed for the initial capital works. 

• There are a number of exemptions in the Act which make properties unsuitable 

for EDMO, including the home being for sale, awaiting or recently granted 

probate, or the owner being cared for elsewhere. 

Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPO)  

Purpose: 

52



 

 
 

Many empty homes are in poor condition and an eyesore. A CPO both secures an 

improvement in the local environment and brings a wasted housing asset back into 

use. This power allows the Council to purchase a property from the owners and, 

depending on the specific power used, retain it as housing stock, dispose of it to a 

housing partner, or sell it on the open market before or after renovation. 

The initial decision to progress with compulsory purchase arises out of exhausting all 

other voluntary and statutory powers and is agreed by the Empty Property Working 

Group. The decision in principle is conveyed to the owner and efforts continue to 

seek a voluntary solution throughout the process.  

The end use will be considered for each case, but where the property is sold at 

auction or to a preferred partner then the funds can be recycled for further empty 

homes work. 

Legislation: 

The primary powers to acquire property land compulsorily, where an owner is 

uncooperative or untraceable, are as follows: 

Statute Purpose Section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

(amended by Planning & Compulsory Act 2004)  

• A local authority can CPO any land and buildings if it thinks that the acquisition 

will facilitate the carrying out of development, redevelopment or improvement 

on, or in relation to, the land and buildings.  

• The development, redevelopment or improvement must contribute to the 

promotion or improvement of economic, social or environmental well-being.  

• Where the empty home requires improvement, perhaps because of its poor 

external appearance or because of its poor condition inside, this power is 

available.  

Section 17 of the Housing Act 1985  

• A local authority can acquire a house, or houses, for the provision or 

improvement of housing accommodation (whether by itself or someone else). 

• If an empty property is in good condition and not in need of improvement, then 

only the housing power will be available for the CPO. 

Section 47 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990  

• This power is available when the empty home is a listed building in poor 

condition.  

• It is a pre requisite to a listed building CPO that a repairs notice under section 

48 of the Act has been served at least two months before the CPO is made.  

• Section 93 Local Government & Housing Act 1989 

• This power is rarely used 

If compulsory purchase is identified as the most satisfactory course of action, then 

from that point on legal process is followed.  

 

 

53



 

 
 

Risks:  

The decision to compulsorily purchase an empty property must be shown to be in the 

public interest, and CPO is a costly and lengthy process. This power is usually 

limited to where persuasion and statutory notices have failed and the owner refuses 

to co-operate with the voluntary measures offered by the Council to bring the 

property back into use; or if the owner is untraceable.  

Objections may be heard resulting in a potentially costly public enquiry and the 

Secretary of State may or may not support the action.  

Costs: 

The Council is required to pay compensation, comprising of the market value of the 

property plus, if there are no outstanding legal notices on the property, basic loss 

value. If the property is sold back to back to a new owner, these costs may be paid 

from the onward sale, but a considerable budget is needed for legal and other costs. 

6. Performance and Evaluation 

The number of empty homes brought back into use is a corporate measure. 

Performance will be reported through the Directorate of Housing and Property. 

There will be an annual report on the impact of empty properties and the successful 

interventions. The report will include: 

a) The changes in the number of empty properties year on year 

b) The number of complaints received in respect of empty homes  

c) Any local authority expenditure incurred in the management of neglected empty 

properties  

d) The number of properties brought back to use through council involvement  

e) The amount of New Homes Bonus achieved through empty homes 

f) The amount of debt recovered through interventions such as negotiation and 

enforced sale 

g) The progress and current circumstances of any homes vacant for over 2 years 

and any barriers or hold ups to identify where resources are needed. 

 

 

54



 

 

 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

7 October 2021 

Report of: Councillor Annie Mason 

  Cabinet Member for People and 
Safer Communities 

           

Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2021 

The Council is required, under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 to publish information on an 
annual basis showing its compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty.  This report therefore 
presents the Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2021. 

 

Report Author 

Carol Drury (Senior Community Development Officer) 

 
 01476 406 161 

  c.drury@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Healthy and strong 
communities 

Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Paul Stokes (Head of Corporate Operations) 17 September 2021 

Approved by: Gary Smith (Strategic Director Commercial and 
Operations) 

27 September 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Annie Mason (Cabinet Member for People 
and Safer Communities) 

28 September 2021 

 

Recommendation to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that Members of Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee review and comment on the appended Equality and Diversity Annual 
Position Statement 2021 and note its content prior to its approval for publication. 

 

55

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 imposes a duty on public sector organisations when 

exercising public functions to have due regard to: 

•    Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 

• Advance opportunities for people who share a protected characteristic and those 

who don’t share it 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those who don’t share it. 

1.2 These are known as the three aims of the Equality Duty. 

1.3 Two further specific duties are placed on public sector organisations, which are to: 

• Publish information to show compliance with the Equality Duty, at least annually, 

and  

• Set and publish equality objectives, at least every four years. 

1.4 The publication must include information to show that the Council has consciously thought 

about the three aims of the Equality Duty and it must also include information relating to 

employees who share protected characteristics (for public bodies with 150 or more 

employees) and information relating to people who are affected by the public body’s 

policies and practices who share protected characteristics (e.g. service users, tenants 

etc). 

1.5 The purpose of the Annual Position Statement is, therefore, to share this information and 

provide an overview of how this Council has complied with the three aims of the Duty 

during 2020/21.   

1.6 The Annual Position Statement is for publication to the general public for information 

purposes. 

1.7 The law does not prescribe a required format for this document.  Organisations can 

present information in any way they choose.  They can also determine content beyond 

that listed above. 

1.8 This Council’s Annual Position Statement provides the required information plus 

background to its vision and priorities, values and behaviours and the good practice of 

partners and across Council services to show that due regard is integral to the Authority’s 

interactions and delivery.  

1.9 The 2021 Annual Position Statement includes the Council’s latest Equality Objectives 

which cover the period 2020-2024.  The document also contains the action plan to provide 

the current status of these objectives.   

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Feedback from Members of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

is welcomed and will be shared with the Cabinet Member for People and Safer 

Communities. 

 

 

56



 

 
 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 There are no other options to consider. The publication of this document is a statutory 

responsibility. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 Not applicable. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation 

5.1 To inform Members of action taken to ensure the Council complies with the law on equality 

and to assure Members of this Council’s commitment to the equitability of its services and 

their delivery. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Following feedback from the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee the 

Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities will be asked to approve the Equality 

and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2021 for publication to the Council’s website. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The public sector Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) came into force in 

2011.  The Equality Duty applies to public bodies and others carrying out public functions.  

It supports good decision-making by ensuring public bodies consider how different people 

will be affected by their activities, helping them to deliver policies and services which are 

accessible to all and which meet different people’s needs. 

8.2 The Equality Duty is supported by specific duties, set out in regulations.  The specific 

duties require public bodies to publish relevant, proportionate information demonstrating 

their compliance with the Equality Duty and to set themselves specific, measurable 

equality objectives. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Equality impact is identified through the production of this document.  In producing this 

document the Council is also able to identify potential areas of under representation in the 

Authority’s workforce and highlight good practice. The Equality and Diversity Annual 

Position Statement aims to improve awareness of equality responsibilities and further 

embed those responsibilities within the Council’s working practices.   

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No risks relating to this report have been identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 There are no direct community safety implications resulting from this report.  

57



 

 
 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 None identified. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None identified. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2021. 

 

 

 

58



 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
Photograph: Meet the Nations Event – Jubilee Church Life Centre, Grantham 

 

Equality and Diversity Annual Position 
Statement 

2021 

59



 

 

 

Introduction 

This statement provides an overview of 2020/21 in relation to equality and diversity in South Kesteven. 

This Council promotes equality of opportunity across all its functions.  

Our commitment to equalities is about long-term, continuous improvement.  It is the responsibility of all officers and elected Members to 

implement the principles of equality and diversity. We aim to ensure that these principles inform decision-making at every level within 

the Council, reflecting our ongoing commitment to the elimination of unfair discrimination, the advancement of equality of opportunity for 

all and to foster good relations between different communities.  

We continue to work towards mainstreaming issues of equality and diversity into service delivery, employment and procurement for all 

aspects of our work. We are committed to providing equal access to services and employment for all people living, working and visiting 

the district. 

 
On the 1 October 2020 South Kesteven District Council declared that this Council is intolerant to racism and will continue to seek to 
eradicate it, Islamophobia, Anti-Semitism and hate crime across the district by developing initiatives that are actively inclusive and anti-
racist. 
 
The agreed Motion stated that: 

South Kesteven District Council recognises that there is no place for racism in the UK today. SKDC commits to ensuring its functions 
and practices are compliant with its legal obligation under the Equality Act 2010 and that it is an authority not just tackling inequality to 
meet a duty, but one that actively works with its communities and other agencies to fight racism and hate crime throughout the district. 

This document provides general information relating to how we work in South Kesteven and provides a retrospective in terms of the 
make-up of the people who live and work within the district and gives highlights of our activity which supports equality of access to the 
services we provide.  

On the 15 July 2021 the Council resolved to sign up to the Mental Health Challenge for Local Government.  Prior to making this formal 
commitment, the Council established a working group, made up of cross-party members and officers all of whom would take a lead role 
and ownership of the activities of the group.  These activities would centre around:   
 

• Supporting positive mental wellbeing in the community, including neighbourhoods and workplaces.  

• Supporting positive mental wellbeing within its own workforce and elected Members.  

• Considering mental wellbeing in decision making and policy.  

60



 

 

• Working with local partners including Lincolnshire County Council and the Voluntary Sector.  

• Engaging with Lincolnshire County Council strategy and activity and the Joint Health & Wellbeing Board for Lincolnshire.  

 

Core Values at the Heart of SKDC 
 
Our Corporate Plan 2020-2023 defines the core values and behaviours expected of our staff stating that: 

The values of the council determine how we behave and deliver services to our residents and businesses and who we interact with 
each other. They focus attention on seven areas: 

Accountability:  which means ensuring that everyone at every level will need to be responsible for what they do and takes ownership 
for their actions and decisions. 

Flexibility:  which means working in different ways, at different times and in different places to meet the needs of our residents and 
businesses. 

Agility: which means working together to get the job done, using our skills to get the best outcome for our residents and businesses. 

Equity: which means ensuring that we treat each other with respect, irrespective of rank, position or status.  This echoes our 
commitment to provide consistently good services to both our internal and external customers. 

Networking:  which means that as a council we recognise that ours is not the only voice or opinion.  We embrace the views of others 
and use formal and informal networks to improve performance and ensure the solutions we deliver meet the needs of our customers. 

Always learning: which means sharing knowledge skills and expertise to enable the council to go from strength to strength and learn 
from everything we do. 

Talent: which means harnessing the incredible ability that is within the council and valuing the contribution that everyone can make. 

Service Delivery 
 
The Equality Duty requires public bodies to consider how the decisions they make and the services they deliver affect people who share 
different protected characteristics.  We have a process for analysis of equality impact for all our policies and procedures.  This form of 
analysis replaced the traditional equality impact assessments that have been undertaken for many years.  Analysis begins prior to the 
introduction of, or change to, any policy or procedure.  Officers assess at this very early stage the impact our decisions will have on the 
people we serve.  We look for both positive and potential negative outcomes relating to the introduction of policies.  If positives are 
found, we look at how we might extend those impacts across the protected characteristics.  If negatives are highlighted, we look to 
remove them if possible and mitigate their impact if they remain.  We recognise that the impact our policies and procedures have on 
people is not always defined because of a single protected characteristic.  The need to look at a person as a whole, rather than 

61



 

 

component parts, is imperative when applying fairness to systems and decision making. Equality Analyses are taken into account 
throughout our overview, decision making and scrutiny processes by our Members to ensure that their decisions are fair and equitable 
for the diverse communities they have been elected to serve.   

As a provider of services, we make sure that the information we produce is clear, understandable and accessible.  We treat people with 
respect at all times ensuring that we are aware of, and acknowledge, their human rights. 
 
The Equality Act  
 
As a local authority the Council has a responsibility to meet the Equality Duty which is set by law as part of the Equality Act 2010. The 

duty gives protection for all persons who might be discriminated against because of their age, race, sex, gender reassignment, 

disability, sexual orientation, religion or belief, pregnancy and maternity and marriage and civil partnership. 

The duty requires us to have due regard to the need to:  

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. 
 

The specific duties placed on public bodies are to: 

• Publish information to show our compliance with the Equality Duty – including information relating to employees who share 

protected characteristics and information relating to our service users. 

• Set and publish equality objectives, at least every four years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

62



 

 

Our Equality Objectives 2020-2024 
 

 

Gender Pay Gap 
 
Under the Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017, the Council is required by law to publish an annual 
gender pay gap report.  This information is published one year retrospectively. It’s 2020 report showed: 

      2018  2019  2020 

• Our mean gender pay gap  6.2%      4.4%  0.8% 

• Our median gender pay gap 11.7%    9.9%  6.4% 

Objective How will we achieve this? 

Strengthen our knowledge and 
understanding of our 
communities. 

 

Ensure that the Council’s services are responsive to different needs and treat service users 
equitably, with dignity and respect.  Listen, involve and respond to our communities effectively. 

Build a database of voluntary and community groups that serve our communities at grass roots 
level and work with them to ensure sustainability of provision and service. 

Build a culture of equality and 
inclusion into all the services, 
functions and projects we deliver. 

Incorporate the need to assess and address equality issues into the Council’s project methodology 
and democratic processes to ensure consideration of the needs of our customers is at the heart of 
what we do from the earliest stage of development through to decision making and 
implementation. 

Prove our ongoing commitment to 
equal opportunity by developing a 
diverse and empowered 
workforce and by reducing our 
gender pay gap.  

Utilise workforce data to help identify areas for improvement in the diversity and skills of our 
workforce to seek equality of representation at all levels across the organisation.  Develop and 
deliver against an action plan to specifically address the Council’s gender pay gap, to form part of 
the work programme of the Employment Committee. 

Demonstrate a positive culture with strong leadership and organisational commitment to improving 
equality outcomes. 

63



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0   
 ean  ender pay gap 

2020  20   mean 

gender pay gap        

    
 edian  ender pay gap 

2020  20   median 

gender pay gap       

In terms of hourly rate this equates to 

 omen

 en

      
 20      2     

      
 20      2    

 tandard     hourly rate 

 tandard       hourly rate 

    0 
 20      0     

      
 20      2 0  

 ifference 

 ifference 

 0   
 20     0    

 0   
 20       20 

64



 

 

The graphic below highlights one of the key aspects of the gender pay gap reporting requirements and shows the proportion of female 
and male employees (based on hourly pay rates) across each of the four quartiles. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   E       I E
   E       I E
   E       I E

 roportion of female and male employees  y quartile

 omen

 en

   E       I E

      

 20         20        

      
 20         20        

   E   I   E      I E

      

 20         20        

 0  0 

 20         20     2  

   E   I   E      I E    E       I E

65



 

 

  Objective 1: Strengthen our knowledge and understanding of our communities                            

Action How will we achieve 
it? 

Detail Outcome Timeline Lead  Status 

1.1 Ensure that the 
Council’s services 
are responsive to 
different needs and 
treat service users 
equitably, with 
dignity and respect. 

Creation of a 
Communities Team 

To build capacity in the delivery of a 
community engagement/development 
programme for the district and to ensure 
equality considerations are imbedded into 
service delivery 

A sustainable resource to 
support both the VCS of the 
district and the Council in 
their ambition to work more 
collaboratively with the 
community 

 
 
June 2021 

 
 

Paul Stokes 

Complete 

Initiate a review of 
processes, policies and 
organisational attitudes 
 
 
 

Each service area to undertake a service 
level equality impact assessment to review 
the function, practice and policy of their 
service area which is collated to provide a 
summary for the Council.  Following the 
self-assessment the Council will seek to 
commission a professional organisation to 
assess and validate findings 

Effective embedding of 
equalities into the policies 
and practices of the Council. 
Increased awareness of 
unconscious bias. Equitable 
service for all 

 
 
 
 
Jan 2021 – 
March 2022 

 
 
 

Carol Drury 

Equalities has been 
added to service 
plans as a 
consideration and is 
also in the service 
review methodology.  
Heads of Service to 
identify service E&D 
Champions 

Invite appropriate 
speakers on issues of 
equalities with a focus on 
racism and its impact to 
help with training for 
councillors and staff 
 
 

HR and Member Services to work together 
to introduce into existing programmes 
training and awareness raising, which can 
include sessions delivered by people 
representing relevant protected 
characteristics 

Increased awareness of 
every day intolerance 
suffered in society 

 
 
 
Ongoing 

 
 

Sam Selby 
 

Head of HR 
 

Carol Drury 

Potential 
trainers/speakers 
identified through EM 
Councils, the LGA 
and multi-cultural/faith 
agencies and passed 
to member services 

1.2 Listen, involve and 
respond to our 
communities 
effectively. 

Facilitate community 
forums and work 
collaboratively with other 
agencies that support the 
communities of South 
Kesteven 
 
 
Continue to engage with 
all members of our 
community through this 
council, the Jubilee 
Church, Muslim, Hindu 
and other faiths 
encouraging all new 
citizens no matter what 
their background, to 
cherish the values and 
principles that underpin 
British Society 

Bring together voluntary and community 
groups into a community forum to share 
intelligence, create opportunities for 
collaboration  
 
Take ownership of, and rebrand, the 
Migrant Community Network (MCN) to 
ensure it is inclusive and fit-for-purpose 
 
Facilitate a multi-cultural forum to 
effectively engage with under-represented 
communities and to feed topics for 
discussion to the MCN 
 
Re-introduce the Community Focus Forum 
made up of representatives from all 
protected characteristics to scrutinise and 
inform the work of the council 

Increased intelligence of 
community groups and other 
agencies and the services 
they deliver.  
Effective two-way 
relationship between SKDC 
and the community  
 
Increase in opportunities for 
VCS groups to work together 
 
Increase in opportunities for 
VCS to work collaboratively 
with SKDC 
 
 
Increased transparency in 
decision making 

 
Feb 2021 
and ongoing 
 
 
 
 
May 2021 
and ongoing 
 
 
Nov 2021 to 
March 2022 
initially 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Carol Drury 

Groups across SK 
contacted to be 
invited into network/s 
 
 
Initial meetings have 
taken place with 
interested groups and 
individuals 
 
 
Group to be 
reintroduced to 
coincide with the 
development of 
service area impact 
assessments 

66



 

 

Ask organisations across 
the district to pledge their 
commitment to anti-
racism and tackling 
inequality 
 
 
 

Develop an Equalities Charter that would 
incorporate a commitment to anti-racism 
and equality of opportunity within local 
organisations.  Add into procurement 
arrangements to encourage those we 
commission to share these values. Work 
with InvestSK to promote the Charter to the 
business community of South Kesteven 
and encourage them to pledge their 
commitment by signing up to the charter. 

Increased awareness of 
intolerance across the 
District of inequality and the 
negative impact bigotry has 
on society 

 
 
 
Jan 2021 
and ongoing 

 
 
 
Carol Drury 

Charter developed 
and agreed.  
 
Information document 
to support the charter 
is still to be 
developed and 
shared with business 
and VCS across the 
District in 
collaboration with ISK 

1.3 Build a database of 
voluntary and 
community groups 
that serve our 
communities at 
grass roots level 
and work with them 
to ensure 
sustainability of 
provision and 
service. 

Utilise knowledge base 
created through SK 
Community Fund, Lottery 
SK, CrowdfundSK and 
Ward Member Scheme 
and link with database of 
groups developed to 
support communities 
through COVID-19 

Create an ecosystem of the groups and the 
types of support available within our 
community which uses existing intelligence 
of VCS activity in the district. Initial work 
will help identify gaps in knowledge and 
provision. The ecosystem will continue to 
build through new relationships developed 
via community forums. 

An effective overview of the 
VCS operating within South 
Kesteven and a greater 
understanding of the 
strengths and weaknesses of 
the provision which will 
enable the Authority, through 
direct involvement, to 
support and develop the 
VCS of our district. 
 
 

 
 
 
March 2021 
and ongoing 

 
 
 
Carol Drury 

Database of groups 
built utilising existing 
information from 
LotterySK, SK 
Community Fund, 
Ward Member Grant 
scheme and BAU 
engagement activity.    
 

 

  

67



 

 

 

Objective 2: Build a culture of equality and inclusion into all the services, functions and projects we deliver. 

Action How will we achieve 
it? 

Detail Outcome Timeline Lead  Status 

2.1 Incorporate the 
need to assess 
and address 
equality issues 
into the Council’s 
project 
methodology and 
democratic 
processes to 
ensure 
consideration of 
the needs of our 
customers is at 
the heart of what 
we do from the 
earliest stage of 
development 
through to 
decision making 
and 
implementation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Build equality 
considerations in project 
methodologies used 
across all council 
services 

Work with Organisational Development and 
Change team to incorporate a procedure 
for equalities analysis to be embedded into 
methodologies during development and 
implementation stages of projects owned 
and commissioned by SKDC 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Equitability of service and 
treatment of staff and 
customers is assured. 

 
 
 
Jan 2020 

 
 
Lead officer 
for OD and 
Change 

Complete 
 
Equality 
considerations built 
into Change and OD 
‘Business Model 
Canvas’ template and 
‘Business Case’ 
template 

Training OD and Change team to undergo E & D 
training to ensure equality is incorporated 
into every service review 
 

 
 
1/11/2019 
 

 
 
Carol Drury 
 
 
 
 

Complete  
 
 

All members of management team to 
undertake E & D training to ensure 
equitability in management of teams and in 
service delivery and to stress the 
importance of equality analysis of all 
reports, policies, procedures, functions and 
projects 
 

 
 
2021 

 
 
 
Head of HR 

To be arranged  

All staff and elected members to participate 
in E & D Awareness training 

 
Ongoing 

Head of 
HR/Sam 
Selby 

Ongoing – see 1.1 

Include E&D sign off on 
all committee reports 

All report templates to include a specific 
requirement to complete information 
relating to equality considerations 

 
Feb 2020 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Head of 
Governance 

Complete 
 

All reports going before Cabinet, Council, 
Committees and Overview and Scrutiny 
should be subject to comment and sign off 
in relation to equalities to ensure analysis 
(where appropriate) has taken place and all 
negative impacts addressed 

 
 
 
Feb 2020 

Response to request 
to say Democratic 
Services could not 
amended the report 
template. To be 
followed up when 
updates take place 

Introduce a diversity 
forum from within the 
employee based of the 
Council  

Invite staff members from across the 
council that represent the protected 
characteristics to discuss issues and inform 
policy 

On hold – 
timeline to 
be 
determined 

 
Head of HR 

To be arranged  

68



 

 

Gender Pay Gap Action Plan 

Attract                                                                                                                                                                                                                     Recruitment and Selection 

Action Purpose Detail Commencing  Outcome Status 

Assign a GPG Lead 
from within the 
Management Team to 
Lead on the delivery 
of the action plan.  

 

Responsibility for 

delivery – GPG Lead 

To lead on the implementation 

of the GPG Action Plan 

The Head of Organisational Development will 
be responsible for and lead on the GPG Action 
Plan.  A Focus and Delivery Group will be 
formed to help support the delivery of the plan 
across the organisation. 

 

Focus group to be 

formed April 2019 

Gender Pay Gap will be 

reduced and gender equality 

will be improved within the 

organisation. 

Following the 

publication of the 2019 

Gender Pay Gap, the 

GPG lead will 

encourage a small 

team of individuals to 

come together to work 

on key initiatives that 

form part of this action 

plan. 

Research GPG 
Reports/Action Plans 
from other 
organisations 

 

Responsibility for 
delivery – GPG Lead 

with GPG Focus Group 

 

Compare the results of SKDC to 
other similar organisations, 
benchmarking with others will 
help define if SKDC gender pay 
gap is cause for concern. 

 

• Compare the results of SKDC with 

other organisations 

• Gain ideas and best practice from the 

action planning of others. 

 

 

 

 

April 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Benchmarking information 
will be used to address any 
SKDC issues. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A review of the last 3 
years of data will take 
place on the 1st April 
2020.   Previous data 
has shown that similar 
district council have 
similar issues in terms 
of services provided 
etc. 

Unfortunately, due to 

other priorities, Covid 

19, lockdown and 

focusing on staff 

wellbeing this work has 

yet to be developed 

Job Adverts/Job 
Descriptions 

 

 

Responsibility for 
delivery – GPG Lead 
with GPG Focus Group 

 

To ensure we encourage 
applicants who cannot work full-
time or within standard “normal” 
office hours or settings. 

 

Advertise out commitment to workplace 
flexibility in all recruitment processes 
highlighting opportunities for variations on full-
time working hours. 

Agile and home working opportunities to suit 
the needs of the individual and the workplace 
should be promoted in line with the key values 
and behaviours set out in our Corporate 
Strategy. 

Ensure capability requirements are clear and 

that all noted essential skills are necessary 

and not just desirable allowing for technical 

Original date 

April 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

Enhances the  uthority’s 

reputation for inclusivity. 

All new job descriptions 

include flexibility in 

terms of working hours 

but also with regard to 

our values and 

behaviours.  We will 

capture this further 

when we hold further 

Line Managers’ 

workshops.  We are 

also undertaking a 

review of recruitment 

and selection 

processes, and this will 

69



 

 

skills to be learnt after recruitment.  Research 

shows that women are unlikely to apply for a 

position unless they meet 100% of the 

requirements, whilst men will apply if they 

meet 60% of the requirements. 

Ongoing updating 

of Job 

Descriptions 2020 

be included.  However, 

we still need to 

continue to develop 

and education line 

managers. 

Introduce a 
programme to recruit 
returners to 
employment 

 

Responsibility for 

delivery – GPG Lead 

with GPG Focus Group 

To provide opportunities to 

women that have been out of 

employment for an extended 

period of time 

Returners are people who have taken a career 
break of a year or more for caring or other 
reasons and who are either not currently 
employed or, are working in roles for which 
they are over-qualified. 

Developing a returner programme will give the 

Authority access to a pool of experienced 

people who either already have skills we need 

or who are easily able to acquire them.  This 

may require the re-evaluation of some roles to 

address the viability of offering part-

time/flexible opportunities. 

 

Original date June 

2019 

 

 

To begin April 

2020 

Provide a programme to 

support, encourage and 

develop returners and 

enhance the reputation of 

the Council 

The HR Team is 

currently undertaking a 

review of the processes 

and procedures in 

relation to Recruitment 

and Selection, ensuring 

that we promote all the 

initiatives, policy and 

procedure that we 

currently have within 

the Council.  As part of 

this review the GPG 

focus group will be 

asked to assist with this 

key project 

Introduce diverse 
recruitment panels 

 

Responsibility for 

delivery – GPG Lead 

with GPG Focus Group 

To reduce any potential of bias 

in the evaluation of candidates 

during the interview process. 

All recruitment panels should have a least one 

“trained” mem er on the panel have   people 

and male/female representation where 

possible, 

Original date 

April 2019 

 

 

Feb 2020/ongoing 

Enhance the  uthority’s 

reputation for inclusivity  

Line Management 

training took place in 

February/March 2020 

and future training will 

be organised as and 

when required as 

informed by HR 

Business Partner 

meetings 

 

  

70



 

 

Retain                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 Existing Workforce                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
   

Action Purpose Detail Commencing Outcome Status 
Introduce 
Performance Self 
Assessments 
 
 
Responsibility for 
delivery 
GDP Lead and GDP 
Focus Group 
 

To provide data on barriers to 
progression 

There is some evidence that women 
underestimate their abilities or are more 
conservative in their assessment of their 
abilities than men are. 
 
Self-assessment allows people to review 
their own performance and abilities.  This 
performance review would form part of the 
appraisal process and include reviews by 
the individual’s manager and peers to give a 
rounded view.  As staff are encouraged 
more and more to work autonomously, we 
must ensure they have the confidence to 
fulfil their role 

Original date 
June 2019 
 
 
Begins April 
2020/ongoing/slight 
delay due to the OD 
Team focus being on 
Covid19 Incident 
Team 

Staff better engaged in the 
process of reviewing 
performance and setting job 
and career goals as they 
acquire an accurate view of 
how the work they do 
impacts on the workplace 

Currently developing a 
new Performance 
Management process 
which will introduce a 
“performance model” as 
part of the “check in” 
process so all staff will 
have the opportunity to 
discuss their strengths 
and any development 
opportunities with their 
immediate line manager. 
Training on performance 
management for line 
managers will be 
provided 

To provide an understanding of 
an individual’s perception of 
their own abilities (strengths and 
weaknesses) 

To identify areas in which 
people excel and could pass on 
their skills, knowledge etc to 
others 

To identify development needs 

Flexible Working for all 
 
 
 
Responsibility for 
delivery 
GPG Lead and GDP 
Focus Group 
 

To enable a means of flexible 
working across SKDC that is 
open to all (subject to actual 
business need) 

Whilst there are some areas where flexible 
working is (because of business need) 
restricted, barriers to a flexible approach 
need to be removed. A corporate approach 
which encourages both women and men to 
work flexibly will ensure the programme is 
administered in an equitable manner. Senior 
managers should role model working 
flexibly. 
 
Flexible working is already in place and has 
been for a number of years. Ongoing action 
is however required to further promote 
flexible working across the Authority to help 
dispel the impression (of some) that 
presence equals worth within the 
organisation. 

 
Ongoing 
 
 
March 2020 and 
ongoing 

SKDC seen as a fair and 
flexible employer that values 
and empowers its staff.  
Creates a positive employer 
brand for future job 
applicants and helps retain 
staff whose personal 
circumstances have changed 

As an organisation we 
continue to promote 
flexibility and flexible 
working.  In the past, 
staff have commented 
on inconsistency in some 
areas.  Although we 
appreciate that not all 
areas can have the 
same flexibility due to 
service provision, we 
continue to discuss with 
managers opportunities 
and ways to enable 
flexibility and will be 
undertaking a staff 
survey in October to gain 
further feedback from 
staff on the subject 

Promote the 
opportunity for 
shared parental leave 
 
Responsibility for 
delivery 
HR in collaboration with 
the Comms Team 

To reduce the gender pay gap 
that may be experienced by 
women who return to the work 
environment after having 
children 

Research shows that the gender pay gap is 
significantly greater in some organisations 
after women have children.  This gap can be 
reduced through advocating shared parental 
leave. 
 
Shared parental leave policy already in 
place. Ongoing action is required to further 
promote the opportunity of shared parental 
leave 
 

 
Ongoing 

Improvement in the diversity 
and skill within the workplace 
and a reduction in the gender 
pay gap 

Promotion of Parental 
Leave has taken place 
and we continue to do 
so, however, in general 
the uptake is low 

71



 

 

Develop                                                                                                                                                                                                                  Training and Development 
 

Action Purpose Detail Commencing Outcomes Status 
First Time Line 
Managers 
Programme 
 
Responsibility 
for delivery 
Organisational 
Development and 
Change, working 
with HR 
 

To provide training to staff in 
leadership positions and to those 
who aspire to be in leadership 
positions 
 

First Time Line Managers Programme has been 
developed and will  e delivered in “ ite size” 
sessions throughout April/May.  Topics available 
to those on this programme will include: 

• Recruitment and Selection 

• Absence management 

• Performance Management 

• Communications 

• Disciplinary/Redundancy 

• Flexible Working 

• Itrent (HR System) 

Original date 
April 2019 
 
 
Began Feb 2020 
and ongoing 

Appropriately trained officers who 
understand and are able to utilise 
management tools available 

Workshops for first 
time managers / 
refreshers for current 
managers took place 
in February/March 
2020 
 
This is an ongoing 
programme 

Introduce 
mandatory 
recruitment and 
selection 
training  
 
Responsibility 
for delivery - 
GPG Lead with 
GPG Focus 
Group 

To ensure consistency in the 
recruitment and selection of 
potential employees. To ensure 
equality throughout the process 

Learning and development opportunity for all staff 
involved in the recruitment and selection process.  
Training to include modules on: 
 
Recruitment and Selection Policy and Procedures 
Attracting/Branding/Targeting 
Interview techniques 
Unconscious Bias (First Impressions) awareness. 
 
 

Original date 
Summer 2019 
Ongoing 
 
 
Summer 2020 
and ongoing 

Trained recruitment panels able to 
utilise a number of techniques to 
identify the strengths of 
candidates. 

Training on 
recruitment and 
selection has taken 
place.  Three sessions 
were delivered in Feb 
and March as part of 
the Line Management 
Development 
Workshops.  Business 
Partner meetings with 
senior HR officers took 
place during 2020 
where further learning 
and development 
requirements are 
shared 

 

  

72



 

 

Equal Access for All 
We are keen to show that we consider the needs of our residents when providing both statutory and discretionary services. The 
following examples are a snapshot of our commitment to having due regard for equality not only through analysis of the impact of new 
and updated policies but throughout all levels of service delivery and facilitation.  

 
Communicating with our Customers 

  

Customer Interactions 
 

Despite Covid19 restrictions being in place for 
much of 2020 and into 2021 we have 
continued to be available to our customers 
when they needed us.  Whilst face-to-face 
interactions were not always possible, our 
teams worked with their usual dedication in 
unusual conditions to ensure that our 
customer’s needs were met   New ways of 
working and communicating were swiftly put in 
place to ensure continuity of service. 

All staff have access to Language Line for 
instant translation services. This service is 
always available but never more valued than 
when face-to-face interpreter was not possible 
during Covid19.  

Staff and customers also continue to have 
access to Text Relay to assist with calls to and 
from the Authority by people with hearing 
impairment.  

Street Scene 

We provide easy read, pictorial, waste 
information leaflets for those who have 
difficultly reading, have a learning disability 
and for those whose first language is not 
English. 

Translations and Alternative Formats 

We provide any document in an alternative format 
on request.  We translate into other languages, 
provide documents in large print or Braille and also 
provide information in audio format.  We work with 
South Lincolnshire Blind Society to ensure 
residents with visual impairment have appropriately 
transcribed copies of our district magazine SK 
Today and we routinely provide translated 
information to food businesses – e.g.our Food 
Management Pack.  

73



 

 

 

 

Supporting our Customers and our Communities 

  

SK Community Hub 

The SK Community Hub was set up in 2020 to support 
our older people, people with disabilities, those who 
were isolated and the vulnerable by coordinating 
volunteer support to access food and medical supplies 
during the Covid19 lockdowns and restrictions. 

Grass-roots support was provided by around 1500 
volunteers representing 55 community groups across 
our District. 

The Hub also worked with the Lincolnshire Resilience 
Forum to provide services and support to those 
identified as clinically extremely vulnerable. 

During 2020/21 the Hub received 2887 calls and 
emails 

Foodbank 

We continue to provide a ring-fenced funding 
pot to support the work of the four Foodbanks 
in our District that work to ensure some of the 
most vulnerable in our communities have 
access to food and essential supplies. 

Our Community Hub worked with Grantham 
Foodbank through Covid19 restrictions to 
ensure those in need continued to receive the 
support required and, in collaboration with 
Rotary, helped to develop a delivery service 
for those not able to collect food parcels. 

Befriending the lonely 

As part of its community response to the 
Coronavirus pandemic the Council contacted 
18,000 vulnerable residents to offer support.  
As a result of feedback we introduced a 
befriending service for those feeling lonely or 
isolated. This was delivered as a weekly 
telephone call between an officer and a 
resident. Initially this service was provided by 
re-deployed staff. As restrictions were eased 
and officers were able to return to their usual 
duties, we worked in collaboration with 
community groups in the north and south of 
the district who took over the befriending calls 
to ensure the service remained available for 
those that wanted it. 

Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFG) 

The Council has a statutory 
responsibility to provide means 

tested DFGs to adapt the homes 
of disabled people. 

Discretionary top-up payments 
may be made for works which 
exceed the mandatory grant 

limit. 

Cultural Foodbank 

Funding was awarded through the SK 
Community Fund to the House of Prayer 

Ministry to provide a cultural food bank for the 
Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities 

of Bourne and surrounding area. 

Assisted Bin Collections 

We help if people cannot move their wheelie bin or waste bags to the roadside 
edge for collection if they have a physical disability or injury.  We also help if 
people have other medical difficulties or conditions which make it difficult for 
them to put their rubbish out.  This includes those who need help for short 
periods of time following an accident or operation or during pregnancy. 

74



 

 

Profile of the District of South Kesteven 
 
Our District 
 
The district of South Kesteven is one of seven within the county of Lincolnshire and borders North Kesteven to the north, South Holland in the east, 
the unitary authorities of Rutland and Peterborough to the south and the counties of Leicestershire and Nottinghamshire to the west. 
 
The district covers 943 square kilometres (365sq miles) with the administrative centre in Grantham and three further market towns of Stamford, Bourne 
and Market Deeping. Two-thirds of the population lives in one of the four market towns and the remaining third live in one of over 80 villages in the 
area. The approximate number of domestic dwellings in South Kesteven is 63,800 with Grantham being the largest urban settlement. The district is 
divided up into 77 parishes. The district has 30 Wards, represented by 56 Councillors. 
 
Our Communities 
 
In South Kesteven there are 152 people per square kilometre, this compares with an overall Lincolnshire average of 129 people per square kilometre. 
The Office for National Statistics mid-year estimate of population 2020 states a population of 143,225 which shows an estimated increase in population 
of 9,437 since the census taken in 2011 and an increase of 18,348 since the 2001 Census. Figures released by the NHS relating to GP registrations 
however show the significantly higher figure of 173,685 which is a huge disparity in information. The overall population size is currently projected to 
increase to 155,800 by the year 2043, through a potential net increase in international and internal migration as well as usual population growth.  
 
Mapping and local intelligence within the district shows significant increases in Black, Asian and minority ethnic (B.A.M.E) communities with the 
greatest concentration of diversity located in the north of the district, specifically Grantham.  
 
The greatest number of people from any one country from outside the UK that have made their home in South Kesteven are from Poland but we also 
have pockets of small communities, sometimes individual families, who need our services, help and advice and are unable to speak, read or write in 
English.  Translation and interpreter requests are taken on demand and can often be for the benefit only of an individual.  Some communities isolate 
themselves but are known to request help and support in setting up English lessons for their community alone, but this does not engender integration, 
promote cohesion or lessen the isolation felt by some, particularly women. Many of the families living here have limited resources; working in low paid 
jo s even though they are qualified to carry out a skilled role in their home country   his can simply  e  ecause they don’t have the language, cultural 
and interview skills to seek better employment. The impact of limited, or no, English language skills goes far further than simply being resource based. 

According to the Office for National Statistics internal migration figures published in 2020, the internal migration inflow for South Kesteven was 6,911. 
This is countered by an outflow of 6,102 individuals leaving the district with a net migration of 801 for the time period. Whilst the inflow figure shows a 
reduction on the 2019 figures for the number of people migrating to South Kesteven (2019/20 figure 7,723), the outflow figure has also reduced (7,121) 
meaning the net migration figure has increased by 33% on last year. Based on figures reported in the least Annual Position Statement, international 
migration saw a reduced inflow of 416 and a reduced outflow of 212 leaving a net figure of 204 for the same period. This represents a decrease in 
people leaving the area of 92. The 2020 Mid-Year Estimate shows that there are 43,214 people aged 60 and above resident in South Kesteven which 
equates to 30% of the total population of the district. The proportion of people aged 75 and over is projected to increase significantly by 2035 according 
to POPPI (Projecting Older People Population Information). The current number of people aged 75+ in the district is estimated to be 15,500 which is 
projected to increase by 58% to 26,800 by 2040. 
  

75



 

 

 

Our Tenants  
 
Age and gender data sets are based on rent information. The remaining data is based on tenant census and core returns completed by tenants on 
signing up to new tenancy. We hold demographic data on approximately 84% of our tenants based on the number completing their census returns. 
 
Total number of tenants listed 1/4/21: 6,579 (which is an increase of 33 on 2020) 

  

   

 

8

484

1025 1067
1188 1102

963

737

5
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400

Age Profile

4252, 
65%

2327, 
35%

Gender

Female Male

3032

74

1597

594

1282

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Christian Other No Religion Declined to
Specify

No response

Religion or Belief Other religions and belief systems 
listed by tenants include: 

• Buddhism 

• Hinduism 

• Islamic 

• Jedi 

• Judaism 

• Paganism 

• Sikhism 

• Spiritualism 

76



 

 

   

 

 

 

  

37
5

80

351

74

673

1

84 74
10

328

9

584

8
38 15

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Type of Disability

2371, 
36%

4208, 
64%

Disability

Yes No

5614

450 515

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

White British Other Races Unknown

Ethnicity

36% of our tenants tell us they consider themselves to have a long-term health issue or disability.  82% of these define their 
condition as either physical, frail, heart problems or mental health.  14% also tell us they have learning difficulties, difficulties with 
reading and writing or are dyslexic. 5% have sensory impairments, the remaining 2% includes people living with cancer, ME, MS 
and HIV/Aids. 

Other Races are defined as: 

Arab   Gypsy/Roma  
Asian British  Indian 
Asian Other  Mixed African 
Black African  Mixed Asian 
Black British  Mixed Caribbean 
Black Caribbean Traveller of Irish Descent  
Black Other  White Irish 
Chinese  White Other 
Eastern European 
 

77



20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

               

 

    

4991

425

1163

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

British Other Nationalities Unknown

Nationality

29 6

4193

13

898

1440

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

Bisexual Gay Heterosexual Lesbian Declined to
Specify

No Response

Sexual Orientation

Other Nationalities represented within this table include: 

Bulgarian  Lithuanian 
Chinese  Maltese 
Estonian  Polish 
Filipino   Portuguese 
French   Romanian 
German  Russian 
Greek   Slovakian 
Hungarian  South African 
Indian   Syrian 
Irish   Thai 
Italian   Turkish 
Latvian   Ukrainian 

Government and Stonewall statistics estimate the 
LGBT+ population in Britain to be between 5-8%, so we 
should expect that to be reflected in our tenant make up. 
The figures from our tenant Census show that only 0.7% 
of our tenants are bisexual, gay or lesbian. Providing 
personal information is however the choice of the 
individual and 35.5% of our tenants either declined to 
specify or did not provide an answer to the question. 

78



 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

214
423

3693

675

31 2

1508

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

Email Home Phone Letter Mobile Text Work Phone Unknown

Preferred means of communication

14
1

293

14

0.0%

5.0%

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Audio Sign Language Large Print Translated

Communication Needs

Most tenants still prefer us to contact them in writing. 
Those who are happy to be contacted by other 
means also often request a written follow up. 
Although we have email addresses for 43% of 
tenants, we cannot be sure of the accuracy of most of 
these and only 214 tenants have told us this is their 
preferred means of contact. Similarly, although the 
majority of our tenants have phone numbers, they 
have not put this as their preferred means of 
communication.  Text tends to be used by repairs to 
let the tenant know the operative is on their way 
where mobile phone details are recorded, and 
permission given (regardless of originally stated 
preferred means of communication). Those who have 
not given us a preference are contacted by letter.  In 
contrast, contact from tenants to us by telephone and 
online is significantly greater although we do not 
collect this data as part of our demographics. 

95% of our tenants have not specified or told us their 
communication needs. 5% tell us they prefer large 
print, and we write to all elderly tenants in 14pt font as 
routine (no tenant has asked for large print in terms of 
blowing it up to A3 size).  Tenants requesting audio 
and sign language interpretation are also happy to 
receive written information. We have not had any 
specific request for audio during 2020/21.  We will 
translate letters when consulting tenants on such as 
the tenancy agreement or if they specifically request 
it. We utilise the information we hold relating to 
languages spoken by our tenants and include the 
option in our communications with them to have 
correspondence translated if required.  

79



 

 

 
 
 
Demographics of South Kesteven  
 

 
 

 

  

Top 10 languages 
spoken in South 

Kesteven  
(discounting English) 
Source: Census 2011 

Polish 

Lithuanian 

Portuguese 

Hungarian 

Latvian 

Russian 

Tagalog 

Slovakian 

Chinese 

French 

Marital Status 
Source: ONS (Census 2011)  

Single 28,454 

Married 58,460 

Same sex civil partnership 128 

Separated 
(still legally married or in a same sex civil 
partnership) 

3,040 

Divorced 
(or formally in a same sex civil partnership which 
is now legally dissolved) 

10,823 

Widowed 8,180 

People 2019 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2018 

2020 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2019 

2021 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2020 

Total Residents 141,853 142,424 143,225 

Gender:  Male 68,429 68,790 69,158 

Gender: Female 73,424 73,634 74,067 

Age 2019 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2018 

2020 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2019 

2021 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2020 

0 -15 25,986 26,143 26,240 

16-19 5,934 5,792 5,718 

20-29 12,969 12,606 12,572 

30-39 15,680 15,765 15,769 

40-49 18,635 18,250 18,059 

50-59 21,229 21,481 21,653 

60-64 9,148 9,399 9,658 

65-69 8,999 8,948 8,802 

70-74 9,071 9,238 9,393 

75-79 5,948 6,344 6,710 

80-84 4,166 4,287 4,418 

85 + 4,088 4,171 4,233 

Number of people aged 18-64 estimated to have a disability 
or dependency 

Source: PANSI subnational population projections 2020 
  2021 

People with a learning disability 1,933 

People with impaired mobility 4,972 

People with a moderate care physical disability 3,555 

People with a serious personal care physical disability 766 

People with a serious visual impairment 52 

People with some hearing loss 9,144 

People with severe hearing loss 539 

People with type 1 or type 2 diabetes 2,998 

People who are alcohol related health issues 3,633 

People who are drug dependent 2,455 

Mental Health, Dementia and Suicide 

People with a common mental health disorder 15,261 

People with a borderline personality disorder 1,937 

People with an anti-social personality disorder 2,638 

People with a psychotic disorder 561 

People with two or more psychotic disorders 5,776 

People with early on-set dementia (aged between 30-64) 24 

Mortalities of people from suicide 6 

Religion 
Source: ONS (Census 2011) 

Buddhism 277 

Christianity 93,192 

Hinduism 394 

Judaism 101 

Islam 358 

Sikhism 74 

Other 434 

No Religion 29,665 

Not Stated 9,293 

Sexual Identity 
Source: ONS Annual Population 

Survey 2018 
Heterosexual  94.6% 

Gay/Lesbian 1.4% 

Bi-sexual 0.9% 

Other 0.6% 

 on’t know/refuse 
to say 

2.5% 

80



 

 

Our Workforce 
 
During the year 2020/21 there were a total of 556 employees within the Council which is a reduction of 108 on 2019/20.  During this year 101 people 
have ended their employment with the Authority which is a decrease of 9 on last year, and we had 83 new starters which is a decrease of 22.  
Disciplinary action or grievance has been brought 33 times which is an increase of 22 on 2019/20.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Age All 
Employees 

New 
Starters 

Disciplinary/ 
Grievance 

Leavers 

16-19 1 1 0 0 

20-29 79 28 8 16 

30-39 75 19 9 13 

40-49 116 14 7 13 

50-59 186 13 6 20 

60-64 65 8 3 16 

65-69 25 0 0 19 

70-74 5 0 0 1 

75-79 3 0 0 3 

80+ 
 

1 0 0 0 

 

Sex/Gender/Trans 

Male 53% 

Female 47% 

Non-Binary 0% 

Transgender 0% 

Declined to Respond 0% 

 

Disability 

Disabled 3% 

Non-Disabled 16.3% 

Declined to Specify 0.5% 

No Response 80% 

 

Religion or Belief 

Agnostic 0.7% 

Atheist 3.5% 

Christian 9.1% 

Islam 0.1% 

Other 1.4% 

Declined to Specify 3.9% 

No Response 80.1% 

 

Sexual Orientation 

Bisexual 0.3% 

Gay 0.5% 

Heterosexual 18.8% 

Lesbian 0% 

Declined to Specify 1.3% 

No Response 78.9% 

 

Race 

British 67.9% 

White: Other 0.7% 

Mixed: White and 
Black 

0.1% 

Black or Black British 0.1% 

Asian or Asian British: 
Indian 

0.1% 

Chinese 0.1% 

Declined to Specify 1.6% 

No Response 28.9% 

 

81



 

 

 

Conclusion 

 
One of the purposes of producing this document, beyond showing how we as a local authority, meet the three aims of the Public Sector Equality 

Duty, is to determine how representative our workforce is of the district and the communities we serve.  As previously stated, many of the 

statistics supplied are based on Office for National Statistics estimates and population projections.  Based on these estimates, we can be assured 

that in terms of gender balance and age ranges we have a representative workforce.  The impending release of Census data collected in 2021 

will allow the Authority to have a more comprehensive view of the district across all of the protected characteristics to review more accurately its 

representation and, if necessary, determine the steps it needs to take redress any imbalance. 

 

The restrictions placed on the country as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic have meant that it has not been possible, for a large part of the 

time period highlighted in the 2020/21 Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement, to deliver services in the way we would usually do.  We 

have, however, proved that we are able to find alternative ways of working and delivering services that continue meet the needs of our workforce 

and our communities and that equitability in all we do remains a key priority.     

82



 

 

Alternative formats and languages 

To ensure all residents of South Kesteven have access to our information material, our information is available in 
a range of different languages and formats, including large print, Braille, audio tape and computer disc. 

To request a document in a specific language or format, you can ring us or email us on: 

 01476 40 60 80                                   pr@southkesteven.gov.uk                

This information can be made available in large print, Braille, on audio tape or computer disc. If you, or 
someone you know, might benefit from this service, please contact us. 

Polski / Polish: Informacja ta może  yć dostępna w języku polskim  Jeżeli  ańswo al o ktoś kogo  aństwo znają, może z tej usługi skorzystać, proszę nas 
kontaktować   

 

繁体中文 / Cantonese: 本資料有繁体中文版，若你本人或你認識的甚麼人會受益於此版本，敬請聯絡我們。 
 
Magyar / Hungarian: Ezeket az információkat magyar nyelven is tudjuk biztosítani. Ha Ön, vagy valaki, akit Ön ismer igényt tart erre a szolgáltatásra, kérem, 
keressen fel minket. 
 
Latviski / Latvian: Šo informāciju var iegūt arī latviešu valodā  Ja Jums vai kādai no Jūsu paziņai šādi pakalpojumi nāktu par la u, lūdzu kontaktējiet mūs   
 
L  tuv šk   / L thu     : Šią informaciją galite gauti lietuvių kal a   rašome kreiptis į mus, jei jums ar a jūsų pažįstamiems ši paslauga galėtų  ūti naudinga  
 
Português / Portuguese: Esta informação pode ser disponibilizada em português. Se você, ou alguém que conhecer, beneficiar com este serviço, por favor 
contacte-nos. 
 
русский / Russian: Эта информация может быть доступна крупным шрифтом, шрифтом Брайля, на аудиокассете или на компьютерном диске  Если 
вы или кто-то из ваших знакомых может воспользоваться этой услугой, свяжитесь с нами  
  
Slovenský / Slovak:  ieto informácie je možné sprístupniť veľkou tlačou, Braillovým písmom, zvukovou páskou ale o počítačovým diskom   k z tejto služ y 
môžete mať úžitok vy ale o niekto, koho poznáte, kontaktujte nás 
 
Pilipino / Tagalog: Ang impormasyong ito ay maaaring magamit sa malaking print, Braille, sa audio tape o computer disc. Kung ikaw, o isang taong kilala mo, 
ay maaaring makinabang mula sa serbisyong ito, mangyaring makipag-ugnay sa amin 
 
Français / French: Ces informations peuvent être mises à disposition en gros caractères, en braille, sur bande audio ou sur un disque d'ordinateur. Si vous, ou 
quelqu'un que vous connaissez, pourriez bénéficier de ce service, veuillez nous contacter. 
 

83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

7 October 2021  

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 

           

Disabled Facilities Grants 2020/21  

This report provides a review of the Disabled Facilities Grant programme during 2020/21.  

 

 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard (Assistant Director, Operations and Public Protection)  

 
01476 406319 

 a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents  

Regulatory All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive) 2 August 2021 

Approved by: Gary Smith (Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations) 

28 September 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property) 

28 September 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the outcome on the delivery of Council’s Disabled Facilities Grant 
programme during 2020/21.   

 

85

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council has a statutory duty to provide financial assistance to disabled people to 

provide a range of essential adaptations to their home through a Disabled Facilities Grant 

(DFG).  These are available to owner occupiers, private sector tenants and housing 

association tenants and must be supported by a Lincolnshire County Council Occupational 

Therapist (“OT”).  Applications for adults are subject to a test of resources (“means test”), 

however, in 2017, the Council used its powers under the Regulatory Reform Order 2002 to 

approve a Housing Assistance Policy for Independent Living which extends the scope of 

assistance that can be provided beyond the mandatory DFG criteria.  The extended 

criteria aim to help more people maintain their independence safely at home, which also 

reduces pressures on health and social care services. Following a review of the policy, in 

2019, the means test for stairlifts and ramps was removed allowing any disabled person 

with a referral from an OT to access this grant.  

1.2 Since 2016/17, DFGs have been funded though the Better Care Fund, this significantly 

increased the amount awarded to Local Authorities (previously around £300,000 per year).  

Adaptions to Council owned homes are funded through the Council’s housing revenue 

account.  

1.3 In 2020/21, the government allocation was £859,556, with a further £115,742 awarded in 

the last quarter of the year. Most adaptions are relatively small scale, with the average 

adaptation in 2020/21 costing £5,077. However, some cases, particularly for children, are 

becoming increasing complex.  

1.4 The service has been provided “in house” since 2019, with installations undertaken by 

over 20 contractors drawn from a Lincolnshire Framework procured in 2019 and used by 

all districts.  Stairlifts for South Kesteven residents are installed by one dedicated 

contractor.  Prior to this, Lincolnshire Home Improvement Agency managed the casework 

and surveyor elements of the application.  It is notable that since the service moved “in-

house” performance has improved (see table 2).  Salaries of officers associated with the 

delivery of the service are capitalised as permitted by the regulations.  

1.5 The Covid19 pandemic has impacted on the delivery of DFGs.  Technical surveys and 

installations were initially suspended, although the administrative aspects of processing 

applications continued as far as possible, enabling applications to be ready for survey or 

approved for installation as soon as restrictions allowed.  OT referrals ceased for a period 

as their visits were also suspended.  As restrictions were relaxed, site visits resumed with 

enhanced considerations for vulnerable residents and staff/contractors, however, delivery 

times increased over the year in some circumstances as a number of clients were 

shielding and chose to delay surveys/installation and contractors found issues obtaining 

some materials and staff shortages due to isolation requirements.  

1.6 Despite the challenges bought about by the pandemic, 111 grants were approved, and 

113 adaptations were completed in year representing a total spend of £613,890 (grants 

approved but not completed in the financial year carry over into the following year). 

1.7 A summary of the DFGs completed during 2020/21 is in table 1 below (note, some 

properties received more than one adaption within the same grant approval). 

 

 

86



 

 
 

 

 

Table 1: Adaptions completed 2020/21  

Adaptation Type Number Completed  

Stairlift 32 

Ramp 27 

Level access shower 35 

Extension 2 

Garage conversion 1 

Wash/dry toilet 7 

Other e.g. door widening, kitchen 
adaptations etc. 

22 

 

1.8 The demand for DFGs is dependent on recommendations for adaptations from the 

Lincolnshire County Council Occupational Therapy team.  Referrals in 2020/21 decreased 

on previous years, this was due to the impact of Covid19 on OT assessments.  Notably, 

the applicant “dropout” rate decreased significantly in 2020/21 (see table 2).  The reasons 

for this are varied but can include; applicant goes into care or passes away, applicant 

does not qualify due to level of income/savings, private rented landlord refuses permission 

or client cancels their application.   

1.9 Outcomes for the previous 4 years are shown in table 2 below.   

Table 2: Comparison data for last 4 years 

 Year 

2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 

Number of 
recommendations  

146 188 172 111 

Number of cases 
cancelled/withdrawn  

38 (26%) 76 (40%) 69 (40%) 53 (48%) 

Number of grants 
approved 

111 121 72 67 

Number of adaptations 
completed 

113 113 65 62 

 

1.10 Into 2021/22, a countywide housing assistance policy is under development.  This will 

result in a more consistent approach to the award of discretionary funding across the 

county.  To further speed up processing times, the surveyor function (funded through the 

grant) provided by the Improvements and Repairs Team has been increased and remains 

under review and additional resource has been bought in to support the application 

process.  
 

 

 

 

87



 

 
 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 This report is for information only.   

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 This report is for information only.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 This report if for information only.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 To provide an update to the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 No further steps are proposed.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no direct financial considerations resulting from this report. Unspent budget 

from any year is carried forward for use in future years to enable demand to continue to be 

met.  Government allocations are reviewed annually, therefore, there is no information on 

future allocation levels.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The principal legal provisions are contained in the Housing Grants, Construction and 

Regeneration Act 1996 and associated regulations. The maximum amount of DFG is 

currently set by statute at £30,000 and has been at this level since 2008. 

8.2 The provision of discretionary assistance is detailed within the approved policy in 

accordance with The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) 

Order 2002. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 As this report is for information there are no direct implications.  However, the policy which 

provides the framework for the award of DFGs was subject to an Equality Impact 

Assessment.  

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No significant risks have been identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No community safety implications have been identified.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 This report is for information.  

88



 

 
 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None identified.  

14 Background Papers 

14.1 South Kesteven District Council Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy - Independent 

Living  

15 Appendices 

15.1 None.  

 

 

 

 

89

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8149
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8149


This page is intentionally left blank



Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2021/22 

WORK PROGRAMME 
 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED CORPORATE PRIORITY 

7 October 2021 

Regulatory 
compliance  

Update to be provided at each meeting for 
the duration of the non-compliance notice. 
To include Tenant Engagement Feedback 
 
Update will also include details of the Fire 
Safety Management Plan 
Lead Officer:  
Andrew Cotton (Director for Housing 
and Property) 

To evidence progress 
and actions undertaken. 

Requested to be a 
standing item on the 
agenda by the 
Committee, on 11 March 
2021.  
 
Inclusion of the Fire 
Safety Management Plan 
was agreed by the 
Chairman on 24 
September 2021. 

Housing that 
meets the 
needs of all 
residents 

Empty Homes 
Strategy 

The adoption of a new Empty Homes 
Strategy, setting out the aims, options and 
enforcement powers on bringing empty 
homes back into use. 
Lead Officer: 
Celia Bown (Senior Housing Policy and 
Strategy Officer) 

Notes and discusses the 
content and to 
recommend to officers 
the approach to be taken, 
to write into the strategy. 

Agreed as an action at 
the Committee’s meeting 
on 29 April 2021. 

Housing that 
meets the 
needs of all 
residents 

Equality 
Annual Report 

The Council is required, under Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010 to publish 
information on an annual basis showing its 
compliance with the Public Sector Equality 
Duty.  This report therefore presents the 
Equality and Diversity Annual Position 
Statement 2021. 
 
 

Review and comment on 
the Equality and Diversity 
Annual Position 
Statement 2021 and note 
its content prior to its 
approval for publication. 

Requested by the 
Chairman, September 
2021.  

Healthy and strong 
communities 

91

A
genda Item

 10



 
 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED CORPORATE PRIORITY 

Lead Officer: 
Carol Drury (Senior Community 
Development Officer) 

Disabled 
Facilities 
Grants 
2020/21 

A review of the Disabled Facilities Grant 
programme during 2020-21 
Lead Officer: 
Anne-Marie Coulthard (Assistant 
Director, Operations and Public 
Protection) 

To provide Members with 
an update 

 Housing that 
meets the 
needs of all 
residents 

9 December 2021 

Regulatory 
compliance  

Update to be provided at each meeting for 
the duration of the non-compliance notice. 
To include Tenant Engagement Feedback. 
Lead Officer:  
Andrew Cotton (Director for Housing 
and Property 

To evidence progress 
and actions undertaken. 

Requested to be a 
standing item on the 
agenda by the Committee 
on 11 March 2021. 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

17 February 2022 

Regulatory 
compliance  

Update to be provided at each meeting for 
the duration of the non-compliance notice. 
To include Tenant Engagement Feedback. 
Lead Officer:  
Andrew Cotton (Director for Housing 
and Property 
 

To evidence progress 
and actions undertaken. 

Requested to be a 
standing item on the 
agenda by the Committee 
on 11 March 2021. 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

92



 
 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED CORPORATE PRIORITY 

28 April 2022 

Regulatory 
compliance  

Update to be provided at each meeting for 
the duration of the non-compliance notice. 
To include Tenant Engagement Feedback. 
Lead Officer:  
Andrew Cotton (Director for Housing 
and Property 

To evidence progress 
and actions undertaken. 

Requested to be a 
standing item on the 
agenda by the Committee 
on 11 March 2021. 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

 

 

Items to be allocated a date for consideration 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED 
CORPORATE 

PRIORITY 

Progress of 
Corporate Plan – 
Performance 
against KPIs 

Update of Key Performance 
Indicators and targets to note 
progress against KPIs and feed back 
to Officers on any performance 
issues or successes, and to consider 
further items for the Work. 
Programme.  
Lead Officer:  
Ben Russell (Performance Lead) 

To consider which areas have poor 
or good performance, make 
recommendations for improvement 
or for continued success, and to 
feed back to Officers or make 
recommendations to Cabinet as 
necessary. 

Developed from the 
SKDC Corporate Plan 
approved at Council on 1 
October 2020. 
 
 

High performing 
council 

Breathing Space 
Policy 

To provide Members with an update 
on the work undertaken on the Policy. 

To note the progress. Update requested at the 
1 July 2021 meeting of 
the Committee. 

Healthy and 
Strong 
Communities 

Neighbourhood 
Policing and Anti-
social Behaviour 

A six-monthly update from the 
Lincolnshire Neighbourhood Policing 
Team. 
Lead Officer: TBC 
 

To note Requested by the 
Committee at 11 March 
2021 meeting, that an 
update be provided in 6 
months.  

Healthy and 
Strong 
Communities 

93



 
 

Voids Policy and 
KPIs, Housing 
Tech Services 
Update 

Periodic report to review progress on 
the revised voids standard, 
developing KPI’s and the Voids 
Policy.  
Report author: Paul Crow (Interim 
Head of Housing Technical 
Services) 

To ensure OSC is kept up to date 
with further service and policy 
adjustments including core 
performance monitoring. 

OSC report previously on 
Voids Performance.  

Housing that 
meets the 
needs of all 
residents 

Landlords Forum TBC 
 
 

TBC TBC Housing that 
meets the 
needs of all 
residents 

CCG/ULHT – 
Pandemic 
lessons learnt 
and experiences 

 
TBC 

TBC Requested by Chairman 
 

Healthy 
and strong 
communities 

Housing Service 
Repair Policy 

The chargeable policy report provides 
guidance on how the council will 
identify, calculate and administrate 
charges for undertaking repairs to its 
housing stock that are not its 
responsibility as the landlord. 
Lead Officer: Paul Crow (Interim 
Head of Housing Technical Services) 

The purpose of the report is to 
seek approval for the adoption of a 
chargeable policy to be used 
across Housing Technical Services 
and Housing Services. 

Chairman’s request Housing the 
Meets the 
Needs of all 
Residents 

Empty Homes 
and Voids 
Strategies 

To provide an update to the 
Committee on the Strategies 

To note performance Requested at the 1 July 
2021 meeting of the 
Committee. 

Housing the 
Meets the 
Needs of all 
Residents 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

94



 
 

REMIT 
 
The remit of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist with the 
development of policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 
 

• Anti-social Behaviour 

• Assisted Garden Maintenance Scheme 

• Benefit Claims 

• Community Cohesion 

• Community Funding & Volunteering 

• Community Right to Bid 

• Community Safety and Local Policing 

• Customer Services 

• DASH Landlord Accreditation Scheme 

• Disabled Facilities Grant 

• Empty Homes Assistance 

• Empty Homes Discount 

• Equalities and Diversity 

• Essential Home Repair Assistance 

• Gravitas Housing 

• Health 

• Homelessness 

• Housing Management, Improvement and Repairs 

• Housing Partnership 

• HR and Organisational Development 

• Landlords Forum 

• Parish and Town Council Liaison 

• Procurement 

• Safeguarding 

• Well-being 

95



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Action Notes from the meeting held on 1 July 2021
	5 Update on actions agreed at the previous meeting
	6 Compliance update
	Appendix 1 - Summary Paper relating to core compliance areas
	Appendix 2 – Improvement Plan September 2021

	7 Empty Homes Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Draft Empty Homes Strategy

	8 Equality Annual Report
	Annual Position Statement 2021

	9 Disabled Facilities Grants
	10 Work Programme 2021 - 2022

